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CORPORATE PROFILE
Addvalue Technologies Ltd and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Addvalue” or 
the “Group”) is a world renowned one-stop digital, wireless and broadband 
communications technology products innovator, which provides state-of-the-
art satellite-based communication terminals and solutions for a variety of 
voice and IP-based data applications. 

Addvalue has established itself as a key partner to many major players in 
the satellite communication industry, counting amongst its customer base 
internationally renowned leaders such as Inmarsat, Thuraya, SingTel, Astrium, 
Satlink, Globe Wireless and Intellian.

Through the recent years of business transformation, Addvalue has emerged 
to be a leading global developer and supplier of mobile satellite terminals, 
supporting coverage provided by premier mobile satellite communication 
operators such as Inmarsat and Thuraya. These terminals are ideal choices 
for communications in areas around the world where terrestrial networks are 
non-existent, inept, ineffective or of poor value for money. This is particularly 
so for maritime communications which rely almost entirely on satellite 
communications, and Addvalue’s products are well poised to address these 
needs.

Addvalue also offers customised design services, tailored to the unique 
needs of each of its existing and potential customers, with its total satellite 
communication solutions derived from its proven technologies, established 
capabilities as well as strong and tested working relationships with the world 
leading premier mobile satellite operators.

From-anywhere-at-anytime total satellite communication solutions
= Our Technologies  x  Our Capabilities  x  Satellite Network
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BUSINESS MODEL OF 
ADDVALUE
Addvalue generates the bulk of its revenue streams 
from two main sources:

1. Development fees or design income from the 
provision of product and solution development 
service against contracts awarded by its key 
partners; and

 
2. Sales from supplying the abovementioned 

products and related application solutions. 

As an authorised developer for Inmarsat BGAN 
terminals, the Group needs to provide products and 
solutions in tandem with Inmarsat’s technologic and 
business strategic plan. In return, it receives from 
time to time development fees for providing such 
development services and also the commitment to 
supply these products and services.

The products and solutions of Addvalue are marketed 
under the Group’s proprietary brand name of 
“WideyeTM”.

As a competent product development house, Addvalue 
also provides product development services to a few 
key players in the satellite industry. These products, 
after being successfully developed by Addvalue, will 
be sold through the key player’s unique and strong 
distribution and sales channels. By forging close 
alliances with these key players, Addvalue creates 
a “captive customer effect” through the supply of 
such customised products and solutions to these key 
players.

AIR TIME REVENUE 

While the development and sales of satellite 
communications products are core to its business, 
Addvalue, where appropriate, also derives share of 
air time revenue from its partners through creative 
bundling of commercial packages.

OUTSOURCING 
MANUFACTURING

It is a strategic decision that Addvalue will not have 
in-house manufacturing facility.

As such, Addvalue outsources its manufacturing 
operations to third party contract manufacturers that 
meets our stringent manufacturing requirements. The 
Group manages the manufacturer through its team 
of supply chain and quality assurance specialists. 
Through the years of close collaboration and 
interaction with the external manufacturers and other 
key suppliers in the value supply chain, Addvalue has 
cultivated strong partnership with them to ensure the 
quality and timely delivery of products to the market. 
Through such outsourcing, Addvalue is able to focus 
in its forte to further enhance its core businesses.    
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

, ColinDr Chan Kum Lok,
Chairman & CEO

Considering the tailwind 
gale that is expected to 
give a further uplift to our 
growth path, barring any 
unforseen circumstances, 
the Group is optimistic 
about its performance for 
FY2014 and expects it to 
outperform that of FY2013.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders

Onn bbbehhhalalalff ofofof ttthehee BBBBBoao rdrd oof Direr ctorrs (t(t(( hehehehehe “BoBoBoBoB ard”),),,,, III pppprereeesesentnt 
to youo  thehe AAnnnnuaaual l ReRReepopportt oof f Adddvvdvaalueeee TTTTecececece hhhhnologgieieeieiessss LtLtLtLtLtddd d
(the “Comppanany”y”)) anandd itss sususubsbsb ididdiiaaries (the “Groupu ”” oror 
“Addvalue”) fofor r tht e finfinaancial yeaarr ended 31 Marchch 22201013 3 33 
(“FY2013”).

A Review of FY2013
 

FoF r FY2013, the GGrGrrroououououp p rerereregigiststerrered a nett loss s offo  US$$91,0,00000000000  
against a tuturnrnovere  offff USUSUS$11$$100.0 22 millionn cocommpmpmpmpararraareded ttoo aaa nenennet tt 
profit ofof US$S$81811,000 against a turnrnovover oof f USUSUUSS$1$ 0.0 6 millioion n
for ththee finfinanancic al year ended 3131 MMarch 222222010112 2 (“FY2012”).

Wiithth rregegard to its financial positiiono , the net asset valulue ee
of thehe GGrroup improved by US$1.4 mim llion or 8.0% frromom 
US$17.4 milllioi n as at 31 Marchch 2200122 to UUS$S$1818 8.8 mmillion 
as at 31 Marrchch 20113,3, wwitithh ththee nenett aasset value pep r orordidinanary 
share enhancnceded ffrorom 1.55 US centntss peper share at 31 March
2012 to 1.59 US cents per share as at 31 March 2013. 

The Group’s lackluster financial performance for FY2013 
was due largely to:

1. the premature termination of our business partnership 
with Sea Tel, albeit an amicable one, following a
consolidation of the satellite communications eco-
arena prompted by the corporate streamlining (“Sea 
Tel’s Corporate Streamlining”) of Sea Tel’s parent,
Cobham PLC (“Cobham”),  subsequent to Cobham’s 
acquisition of Thrane & Thrane, a competitor of 
Addvalue; and

2.2 tht e e dedefefermrment of certain maritime producctt sasalees,, 
attributed primarily to the delay in the comommmeerccciaiall
laaunnncchhchh oooff f ththt ese e teerminals in certain East Asiaa couuntriiesees 
bybybybyby tttheheee dddiisissttrtrttrribibii utors in ttheh se countries.

NoNoNoNotwtwtwtwitithhhsh taannndndiningggg the leesss dessirable financiaals attaaiinen d
inininni FFYY2Y2000113,3, wwee mmana aga ed to o overcoomem  the seetbaback oooff f thththe e
pprprp eemememmatattaturuu ee ttetermmmmininatatioionn of bussiness papartrtnersrshipp wwiwithhhh SSSeeaea 
TeTeTeTel bybyy eeststtaaabablililiissshshing a new cuusstomer base for oour r cocompmpmplleletete  
susuitititiitee ofofff IInnmnmarsat FleetBtBroadadbaband terminaals nnaamely,y  
FFXFXFFX15150,0, FFFFFXX22XX 5050 aandnd FX 50000, marketed under Adddvalue’s 
pppprrododucucucct t bbrbrb and,d, WWideyeyeeTMTM, and whwhicichh are under r the e pprivattee 
laaal bebelll ofofoffo ooururr nnewew OOEM parartntner. Further, wwe aree also proud 
ofof ttthehehh facactt that Addvaalulue is the first comppany too ooffffere  such
a complete suitete of FleetBroadband termminals that hahavev  
rereceeiviveded AATTC and extendededd LL-bband coomplliant certification 
from Inmarsat, andd ccoonsequently accoordedd the GGroroup with
a primmee momovever advavantage in selling thehese pproroduducts..

Moving Forward

We will continue to build upon ourr strengths and proven
technical expertise to drive our proroduct sales as well as
develop innovative products and services and, through
the forging of strategic partnershhips, expand our global 
presence and increase our markett shaharere inn the industry.
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F th fi i l di 31 M h 2014 (“FY2014”)For the financial year ending 31 March 2014 ( FY2014 ),
we envisage the Group’s performance to be largely guided
by the following favorable considerations:

1. Through increased marketing efforts forged with our
key partners, particularly Inmarsat and Thuraya, we
expect a significant improvement in the sales for our
much expanded portfolio of products, especially with
regard to our range of maritime products.

2. Through the imminent introduction of several new
innovative products, we expect to enhance our
product offerings as well as address the niches of new 
emerging markets. 

3. With reggarardd to design income, we are in the final 
negotiiaation stage with several prospeccts fforo  some
designgn-cum-suppply contracts. If successsfs ul, tht ese 
coconntracts araree exexpepectteded to contribuutete ssigignificficana tly y tot
the bottomm line ofof the Group ffor FFY2Y 014 andd beyoondd.

4. WiWith rreegard too oour intangiiblble asasses ts, we hhave had in
MMay y 22013 eengngaged a reputabblele UUS-S-S based firm, which 
sppecciaializeedd in intellectual propoperertiitiesesssses,,, tototottt  help look into 
ththe possibility of monetizinng sosome of f ououououououourrrrr r intellectual 
prropo errtit es tthah t target tthehe consumer mamamamamamamarkrkrkr et and 
are beb lievveded to o hah ve beeeenn widely deployed inininin mmmana y
smaartphones totodadaday.yy. If f succcceessful, the exercicisese iis 
exppected to contribubuteteetet ssssiggigigi nificaantly to the bottom liinen  
of tthe Group in n FY20144.

CoConsn idering the abbovee as a whole andnd the taiilwind gale
ththatat iiss expected ttoo give a further uplifftt to oour growth
path, babarrrrining g any unforseen circumstances, the Group is
optimistic aboutut iitst  performance for FY2014 and expects it 
to outperform that of FY2013.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

A Word of Thanks

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my deepest 
appreciation to the management and staff for their
dedication and hard work in helping the Group realizes 
its many milestones during the year. I would also like to 
extend my thanks to our customers, business partners and 
suppliers for the unrelenting support and the confidence 
they have had in our Group.

I would also like to thank our Board members for their 
contributions and guidance throughout the year. Last but 
not least, I am extremely grateful to you, our Shareholders, 
for standing by us, and look forward to your continual
support as we strive to create a greater shareholders’
value fofor ala l in FY2014 andd beyond.

DrD  Chan KuKum mm Lok, Colin
Chhaiairmrman & CCEOEOEO
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

Our Group registered a reduction in turnover by 4.0% to 
US$10.2 million in FY2013 from US$10.6 million in FY2012. 
The decreased turnover was primarily attributed to the
decrease in the sales of our land products.

Profitability

Our Group achieved a gross profit of US$4.5 million against 
a gross profit margin of 44.3% for FY2013 relative to a
gross profit of US$5.1 million against a gross profit margin
of 47.9% for FY2012. The reduction in gross profit margin
was attributed mainly to the sales of comparatively lower
yielding products in FY2013 relative to FY2012.  

The increase in the Group’s selling and distribution 
exexpepensnseses iinn FYFY20201313 rrelelatatiive to FFY2Y2010122 wawas s attributede  
mamamainininlylyly tttooo ininincrcrcreaeaeaseseseddd mamama krkrk tetetiiningg acactiiti ivivitititiesses iiinn thhthee EEaEasttst AAAsisisiaaa
rerererregigigigg ononon.

The increase in the Group’s administrative expenses in
FY2013 compared to FY2012 was due mainly to increases 
in rental rates, following the renewal of our office lease, as
well as manpower costs. 

The increase in the Group’s other operating expenses in
FY2013 was due mainly to higher foreign exchange loss,
increased activities in laboratory usage as well as repair 
and maintenance costs due to our expanded range of
products, the write-off of certain inventories and the
impairment of certain trade receivables, which collectively 
were offsetted by lower travelling and transportation
costs.

The Group’s other operating income in FY2013 relates
mainly to the compensation it received from Sea Tel inmainly to the compensation it received from Sea Tel in 
connection with the Sea Tel OEM Discontinuation (as
defined hereinafter), gains from the write-off of certain 
ototheherr papayayablbleses aass wewellll aass gogovevernrnmementnt ggrarantntss rerececeiviveded 
inini ccononnenectctioionn wiwithth ooururr cccololollalalaboboborararatititionnon wwititithhh aa coconsnsorortiitit umumum,,
coomppmpririsisisingngngg AAAAgegeg ncncnccy y y foffoforr r SScSScScS ieiieiencncnce,ee,e, TTTecece hhnhhnhn lololologoggy y y annanndd dd RReReseseseararchchchh 
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(A*STAR), Institute for Infocomm Research (I2R) and SP
PowerGrid (a member of Singapore Power Group), for a 
project, entitled “Cyber Security and Secure Intelligent
Electronics Devices for EV Ecosystem in Smart Grid”, which
looks at securing the grid network with the development of
a universal application-independent security blueprint to
enable grid integrated applications, such as electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure, as announced by the Company on
17 October 2010.

Our finance expenses for FY2013 included an amount of
US$217,000 arising from the adjustment of the Group’s
borrowings to its fair value.

After taking into account of applicable deferred tax
adjustments our Group recorded a a net loss of aboutadjustments, our Group recorded a a net loss of about 
US$87,000 in FY2013 relative to the net profit of about 
US$808,000 in FY2012. However, excluding the reversal of 
thththee afafororeded mmenentitiononeded ffaiairr vavaluluee dadjjuju tststmeme tntnt oonn hththee GGrGrouou ’p’pp ss 
bboboorrrrowwowininingsgsgs,, wewewe wwwouououldldld hhhavave tuturnrnededed iiiinnn aa nenett prprprp ofiofiofiofittt t ofofofofof aaaabobooboboututututut 
USUSUSUSU $1$1$1$1$1130303030330 0,0,0,0000000000 iiiinsnsnsnsteteteteadadadad fffforororor FFFYY2Y2YY201010113.3.33

Financial Position

The decrease in our plant and equipment was in line with
the continued straight line depreciation policy of the Group. 

The increase in our intangible assets was attributed 
mainly to the development expenditures as we continue
to develop our proprietary products, including new spin-off 
products.

The staff loan receivable was fully settled following the 
resignation of the staff concerned.

The increase in our inventories was mainly attributed to
increased finished goods and raw materials purchased for
a wider range of productsa wider range of products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Th i i t d i bl tt ib t dThe increase in our trade receivables was attributed
mainly to sales of products in the fourth financial quarter
of FY2013 (“Q42013”) as well as the longer credit terms
granted to some of our valued customers.

The amount due from customers for contract work done
relates to work done but yet to be billed in respect of 
design contracts. The higher amount due as at 31 March 
2012 relative to that as at 31 March 2013 was mainly the
result of work done in respect of projects of higher value 
procured in FY2012.

The increases in our trade payables, other payables and 
provisions were in tandem to the increased sales and
business activities in respect of maritime products in 
4Q2013.

The decreaease in addvance receipts was mainly y due toto the 
fufulfilfilmlmeent of cusustotomemersrs’’ orrdeders in 4Q201313.

The increasee in currenent borrrowowings was duee llarargelyy to o
the reeclc assisificationn oof non-currerent bboro rowings s to current 
liliabilittiess as thehey are due for repaaymymenene t within the next
122 mmoonthhs.s.

Th i i h it l f US$1 5 illiThe increase in share capital of US$1.5 million was 
attributed mainly to the exercise of 53,170,000 employees’
share options by the employees of the Group under the
Employees’ Share Option Scheme of the Company during
FY2013.

Consequence to the above:

1. the gearing of the Group (defined as the ratio of all
interest-bearing loans of the Group to the shareholders’
fund of the Group) increased moderately from 13.6%
as at 31 March 2012 to 14.7% as at 31 March 2013; 

2. the negative cash used in operating activities of the 
Group decreased marginally from US$1.3 million for 
FY2012 to US$1.2 million for FY2013; and 

3. the nen tt asset value of ttheh  Group improved by US$1.4 
millionn orror 8.0% from US$S$171 .4 million aass at 31 Maarch 
202012 to USUSUS$1$1$ 8.8 million ass aaatt 31 March 22010 3, with ththe
nenet asset vavaaluluulueee per ordinary ssshahah re enhanceced d from 1.555 5
USS cenntsts per sshahah re as at 31 MaMarch 20122 too 1.59 US S
ceentntss per share asas aat 31 Marchh 201013. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

Following the Sea Tel’s Corporate Streamlining, it was 
dedeccidededd bebetwtweeeenn SeSeaa TeTell anand d AdA dvdvalueue tthahat, in ouo r 
best mutual intererests s,s tthehe OOEMEM pparartntnerershshipip bbee amamicicabablyly 
discontinued (as Thrhranane e ana dd Thhraranee, aa coompmpetetitoro oof f
Addvalue, also offers a complete suite of Inmarsat Fleet 
BrBroaoadbdbanandd prprododucu ts), withh Adddvalue retaia ning tthe full
ownership p of the FFX X range of produd cttss whwhich hahaveve hhadad 
yeyeyet tat kek n delivev ry ttogo etetheher r wiwithth ttthehe uusese oooff ththee “F“FX”X” mmmoddodelel 
nananannanamememem (((((thththththee “S“SSeaea TTelele OOEMEMEME DDDiisisi cococcontttntiininuauauatitititionononon”)”)”)). ThThThTheseseseseeee prprprprododododucucucuctsttsts, 
whhwhwhiciicichhhh hahahahaveveveve hhhhaddadad ssssinini cecece bbbbeceee omomome a papapap rt oooofff thththe e GrGrrououp’p’p ss prprrododucucuct 

offerings, have been marketed successfully under our 
prprododuuct brrana ds of WiW ded yey TM FFX 150, WideyeTM FFX 2550 0
ana dd WiW dedeyeyeTM FFX X 50500.0. Bese idese , , suubsbseqquentt tto o thhe SeSeaa
TeT ll OEO MM DiD scscontit nuuattioonn, AAddddvaaluluee hahadd lalsoso sucuccecessssfufully y
forged a new OEM partnership with Intellian TeT chhnologies 
(“Intet llian”) to mmarket the complete suite of our FX series 
ofof maritimimee productst  undnder IIntteellilianan’s’s ppririvavatete llababel.

SiSiSiSincncncnce ee e thththee lalalaununnnchchchc ooooff ouourr ThThThururururayyayya-a-a-a cec ntric naarrrrowowbabandn  
mamammm ririr titiiimemmm tttererermiiminanalslls,  SSFSFSFSFSS 2525255000000000 TMTMTM, inini JJununee 20201212, the joinintt 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

agggrgreessisive markeketing effforo tsts pproromomotetedd byby TThuhurarayaya aandnd 
AdAddvalue had seen a gaining in traction for the products.
Barring any unforeseenn circumsm tances, we expect the
sales of such terminals to ppick upup strong g speed in FY2014.

WiWithth rregegarardd toto nnewew pproduductt ooffffereriningsgs, wewew hhavave e hahadd ststararteted d 
with thee ddese igign anand d ded veelopmpmene t ofof sseve eralal nnewew proroduduuctcc s
duuringng FFFY2Y2Y2010101013,3,3,3, aaaandndndnd eeeexppxpxpeecececttt t sosososomemememe oooofff f ththththeseseseseee e prprprprododododucucucuctstststs ttttoo o o beebe 
commmerererercicicic alalalallylylyly llllauauauauncncnn heheh d d bybyyy tthhee fififirsrst t hahah lff oof f FYYFY2022014114.

OnOn oourur ddesesigignn bubusisineness front,, there ala so had been a a fluflurrrry of 
activities during g FYFY20201313 ffolollolowiwingng oourur ssteteppppeded-u-upp efeffofortrts s
in garnering for more desis gn serviv ce engagements. WeW  
are currently in final negotiations with several prospects
and expect many of these potential customers to make 
cocommmmititmem ntnts by tthe first hah lf oof FYF 2014.
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WWided yeTM

SAASABRBRE™ 11

WiWiddeyeTM

SABRE™ 1 Remote
WideyeTMTM

SABREE™™ Ranger

WideyeTM

SKIPPER™ 150

SATLINK FB250

GLOBE iFUSION®

WideyeTM

SAFARITM 10

WideyeTM

SABRE™ Ranger M2M

WideyeTM

Seagull 5000000

WideyeTM

Seagull 5000i
and FaxConnect™

WideyeTM

SF2500™

2006 2007 2008 2009

PRODUCT MILESTONES
Attained by the Group since 2005 when the group underwent a transition to focus on satellite communications

2010 2011 20132012

WideyeTM

SAFARI™
WideyeTM

FX series
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THE GROUP’S PREVAILING LIST OF PRODUCTS

INMARSAT-CENTRIC PRODUCTS

WideyeTM SABRETM 1 is an Inmarsat land portable class 3 BGAN terminal that 
allows global simultaneous voice calls and high speed data connectivity with a data 
rate of up to 384kbps.

WideyeTM SABRETM 1 Remote is an Inmarsat BGAN terminal designed for remote 
Control, Supervisory and Data Acquisition (SCADA) application and together with our 
weatherproof, SABRETM Shield, the product enabled permanent outdoor setup for 
remote monitoring applications.

WideyeTM SABRETM Ranger and WideyeTM SABRETM Ranger M2M are Inmarsat 
BGAN M2M terminals are waterproof and ruggedised build for long term outdoor all 
weather installation. In addition, with intrinsic safety certification, the terminals are 
suitable for the oil and gas industries and designed to operate 24/7 autonomously 
and reliably transmit mission critical data from hard-to reach locations to user’s 
corporate headquarters and receive instructions from there.

WideyeTM SKIPPERTM 150 is an Inmarsat FleetBroadband terminal well suited for 
use by smaller vessel owners across a broad range of maritime markets and provide 
reliable communication, position reporting and navigational updates critical to the 
maritime industry with data rate of up to 150kbps.

WideyeTM SAFARITM and WideyeTM SAFARITM 10 are Inmarsat land vehicular 
BGAN terminals which we developed for installation in vehicles. It allow users to 
access both Internet (with WiFi capability) and voice communications in a moving 
vehicle, targeting a wider market concerning vehicular fleet management, news 
and broadcasting companies. SAFARITM supports streaming of up to 128kbps and 
Standard IP data rate of up to 464kbps; SAFARITM 10 supports streaming of up to 
256kbps and Standard IP data rate of up to 492kbps.
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WideyeTM SF2500TM is a voice, SMS and GPS tracking satellite terminal specially 
designed as a robust, versatile and cost effective solution for medium to small-
size fishing vessels, pleasure boats, patrol boats and other sea vessels or land 
vehicles. This low cost, easy-to-install and user-friendly terminal enables users to 
make satellite voice calls to normal PSTN phones, mobile phones and other satellite 
phones through the Thuraya satellite network.

WideyeTM Seagull 5000i is a voice, data and fax satellite terminal with a builtin GPS 
tracking system specially designed for reliable performance in the harsh maritime 
and land environment. FaxConnectTM is a fascimile interface device customised for 
WideyeTM Seagull 5000i satellite terminal to enable the sending and receiving of 
faxes over the Thuraya satellite network using a standard G3 analog fax machine.

THURAYA-CENTRIC PRODUCTS

THE GROUP’S PREVAILING LIST OF PRODUCTS

GLOBE iFUSION® is an OEM product developed specifically for Globe Wireless LLC. 
It is an Inmarsat FleetBroadband system designed specifically for IP satellite systems 
that fully integrate shipboard satellite communications, shoreside administrative 
control, GSM voice and data (at data rate of up to 284kbps), as well as a comprehensive 
crew communications service.

SATLINK FB250 is an OEM product developed specifically for Satlink S.A. It is an 
Inmarsat FleetBroadband terminal which offers traditional telephony, facsimile, SMS 
(Short Messaging System), email services and internet access,video conferencing, 
VoIP (Voice over Internet Protocol), instant messaging, real-time electronic chart, 
weather update, vessel telemetry, files transfer at a data rate of up to 284kbps.

WideyeTM FX series is a suite of Inmarsat FleetBroadband terminals comprising 
the FX 150 with a data rate of up to 150kbps, the FX 250 with a data rate of up to 
284kbps and FX 500 with a data rate of up to 432kbps.

INMARSAT-CENTRIC PRODUCTS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dr Chan Kum Lok, Colin
Chairmrman andnd Chief Exxxecuuutitit vve OOffficer

Dr CChan, the key co--foununundedededed rrrr oofof the GGrroup, is responsibiblele fffororoo tttthehehh  overall managememmmmmmmenennnent of finaancnciaials, ininini vvestor relaattioioonsn , 
operations and formmulalatitiioon ooff busisiinenessss sstrategies anandd policiesss ooof ff ththtt e Group. As a MeMeeeeechchchchhchchchananicicaal EEngnginineeeeeerr rr rrrr wwiwww th more thththaanaa  
29 yyeaears of expeeriene cece iinn commmunnicicatatatioioioonsnsn  produuctct design and mamamamamanunnnnn facturing, bbususinineesesesesesssssssss dedevevelolopmenttttt aananaaaaaaa d corporatatateee 
mananagemement, hee waas rresponsibblle forr fffforoorrorrmuuuumuulalalalaatitingng tthe strategies in rrrrrrrresesesesesssestrtttt ucturingg andnd traaaaansnsnsnsnsnssn fofofffff rming the GrGrGrGrGGrroououp to be aaa
satellllitte commmmunununicicicatatioions focusseed companyy.

Dr CChahan grraadaddda uaaaau teteeetet d wiwitht  a Bachelor of Sciciencece Degggggggrerererererereeeeer eeeeeeeeeeeee in Mechanical Enngigineeeeeneerereerre inini g withh First CCClalasss Honours ffrom m the 
Univeersityy ooof ff SSStStStraraththclclydyddyde,e UUUK,K  and was connfeerrrredd aa PPhD iiinnnnnnnn MeMeMeMeMeMeMMechanical Engngiineerinnggg fffrroom ththe same uunin versrsity in 19884.4

Mr Tan Khai Pang
Chhiief f OpOpOppere ating and TeTechchnonolologyygy OOOOOOOffiffiffiffififfifficceeccc r

MrMr TTTan, onone ofof the co-founders, hhas s momorer  thaaannnnnn 2929292 yyears oof f experience in prp oduuct developmenntt andd prrojo ect management 
innn tthehe field of telecommunicationnss. IIn thee past tweelvlvee yeyeara s, hhisis wwoork wwas primarily focused on satatellite communications
pproduct dedevevelopmment t ana d ststrar tegigic business managagemenentt. He wawas inststrrumeentntalal iin re-moulding the Group’s strategies and 
organizational commpepetetencceses nneecessary for the succcessssfful l bubusiness ttranssfformationn of the Group from consumer product-
centric to satellite-basedd tterermiminanals and related aapppplication foccusus. Hiss ini -depth undndererststanding of f ththe e industry andnd the 
competing forces helps the Group position its niche in the market. HHee oversees thehe businesss devevelopmmenntt andd tetechchnologigicc 
development in order to ensure an integrated and cohesive overall Group strateeggic direction. Mr Tan graduated d from the 
University of Knoxville, USA with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering with Highest Honours. He holds
a Master of Science Degree in Engineering (Telecommunications) from the University of California, Los Angeles Campus,
USA.

Mr Tan Juay Hwa
Executive Director

Mr Tan, one of the co-founders, has more than 29 years of experience in communications design, proprietary software 
technology development for communications products and product development management. In the past ten years, his
primary focus was on firmware development for satellite communication products, including testing and manufacturing 
firmware for such products. Mr Tan holds a Diploma in Electronics from the Ngee Ann Polytechnic, Singapore and Graduate 
Diplomas in Marketing Management and Business Administration from the Singapore Institute of Management, Singapore. 
He also holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Open University, UK.
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Mr Lim Han Boon
Independent Directorr

Mr Lim was appointed to the Board d onon 4 October 1996 and serves as an Independent Director of the Company. He is also 
the Chairman of our Audit and Nominatingng Committees. With more than 17 years of experience in investment banking and 
private equity financing services, he hasas been advising the Company on matters concerning financial reporting, compliance
with listing rules and other regulatatoory requirements, upholding of good practices for sound corporate governance, fund 
raising and corporate restructururiing etc. Mr Lim holds a Master of Business Administration (Finance) Degree from the City 
University, UK and a Bacheelolorr of Accountancy Degree from the National University of Singapore, Singapore. He is a Fellow 
Member of the Instittutee off Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and a Full Member of the Singapore Institute of 
Directors.

Mr Ang Eng Lim
Independentt DiDirector

Mr Angng wasas appointed to the Board on 13 October 2006 and serves aas an Independent Director of the Compaany. HHe is a 
memembbere oof the Remuneration, Audit and Nominating Committees.s. 

MrMr Ang is a Chartered Accountant Singapopore and a Fellow MeM mber of tthe Association ofof Chartered Cerertitifieedd Acccountants
and tht e Insolvency Practitionerss AAssssociationn of SiS ngapore e LiLi imitetedd. He has many years of eexperience in arreaass relalating to
the provision of audit aassssssuururana ce, accounting, taxx consultancy,y ccororporatee secretatarial andnd ggeneneral managemmentt seervrvices. 

Mr Michael J Butler
Independent Direectc or

Mr Michael J Buttleler wawas appoointedd to the Board on 1 September 22010 and serves asas aan Inded peendeent Director of the
Company. Mr Butlere , a British nationalal, haass over 21 years ofof ssucccec ssful commercial eexpxpeerience in worlddclasss,s hhigighh tetechc nology 
businesses, including momorere ttthhahan 12 yyearsrs iinn seseninioror general mannagagememeentt roles with full P&L responsiibility. From Maay 2000 
to April 2009, Mr BuButltlerer served as the Managing Director, then President & Chief Operating Officer aand an executiveve bboardrd 
director of Inmarsat, a FTSE 100 company. Inmarsat, the acknowledged world leader in the proviision of global, mobile 
satellite communications services to enterprise and government customers - on land, at sea and in the air, provides voice, 
data and broadband services in over 200 countries, via a worldwide network of over 500 partner orrganizations.

In April 2012, Mr Butler was appointed into the Board of Director of Thuraya Telecommunications CComppany, to serve as one 
of its Independent Directors. Thuraya was established in 1997 and has grown into a multimillion n dodollllarar business offering 
satellite performance and solutions; its portfolio, encompassing data, voice and maritime products and ssere vices, supports
dual GSM and satellite mode and advanced applications to provide people and businesses with constatantt connectivity y 
when they need it most. Thuraya specifically designs successful satellite communication solutions for verticacal sectorss such 
as energy, media, government, NGOs and maritime.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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KEY MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chow Choi Fun, Jackie
Financncial Contntroller

Ms Chow, the Financial CCConontrtrtt ololoo llel r ofof tthehe Group, joined tthehe GGGGrorooupuppupu  in 2010. She is resessssspoppopoopop nsnsn ibible for tthehe aacccccccououo nting, finanaancncciai l,
seseccretarial and tax reelaateted d d maamatttttters ofof ttthehe Company. Shhee is in thheee acacacaa cococoounu ting profession fofofoofoor r rr momommmmmm ree thahan n 2222 yyeaeaaaaaaae rsrsrssrrrrrs with moree ttthahaan
10 years working eexperieiencce in SSinnnngagag poporree llisted compmpaanies. Prior ttttttoooooo jojojojojooining the Company,y,yyy, sssssshhehhhh wwasas tthhe Finnnnananananananananananncial Contrololllleleeler 
of aa SSGXGX Main Booarrd lilisteed marine e commpmppana y yyy frfrfff omo AAprriil 2007 to July 202020202002 10101010100010 aaand was thee Genenererrrrrralalalalalala MManager – FFinnnnnnninaaanananaaaa ce of a SGGGX X X 
Mainn Boardrd listeted d eleeccttronic commpany frorommmmmmmm FeFeeebrbrbrbrbbrb uauu ryry 20066 to March 20000000000000077777777 anaaaaaaa d thee Corprporo ate ee FFiFiFiFiFiiFiFFF nanannnn nce Managegeger r ofo  anotherr 
SGS X SeSesdaqq lllisisissttetet d d d elelectronicc ccompany from JuJuJuJuJuJuJ lylylly 2222220000 2 toto January 2006. MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMs s s s ss sssss sss ChhCCC oow iss aa Fellowwwww MMMMMMMeme ber of thehee CChartered 
AsAssosociattioion oooffo CCCCCeeerrerttifified Accoountants and an AAsssocccociaiaiaiaiaiaiateteteteteeeetetetete mmmmember of the Instituteeee oooooooofffffff CeCeC rtifified PPubublilic AcAcAcA cooc unu tants of SSinggapore.

Mr. E.M.L. Ekanayake
Headd of f HaHaaarrdware EEngggn inninineeeeeriririr ngn

Mrr Ekakannanaayayake joined thhee GrGrououpp ininninin 111119999999999999666666 aand specializes inn electrooronniniccs hhardwara e designn.. He hhasa  more ththanan 22 years of 
exexpeeririieeenencee iinn the areas of analoog annananndddddddddd didididididiigigiggggg tal telephonyy-reelalated prrododuct t dedevelopment, hhardwwaare designn for satellite 
commmmmmununicatioonn products, and dessign aaandnd devevvvvvveleleleleleelopopopopoo mem nt of trtraacking, navigaatit on annd remote mooninitotoringg pproducts using GPS, 
GPPPRRRS technh olologies. Mr Ekanayakkee ggrraaduaatet d fromm ttthehe UUnin versity y off PPereradadeniyiyaa (S(Sri Lanka) with a Bacchehelolor of Science (Hons) 
DDeDegreee iinn Engineeringg anandd hoholds a a GGraduatete DDipiplolomama iinn Infoormatation Commmunication Technology from Nanyang Technological
University.

Mr. K. Kalaivanan
Head of Software & Application Engineering 

Mr Kalaivanan joined the Group in 1996 and specializes in telecommunications software development, especially in the 
area of wireless communications and networking protocols. He heads the software design team of the Group, which also 
manages the software development of the Inmarsat BGAN satellite terminal projects. With more than 22 years of experience 
in the telecommunications industry and in product development and project management, especially in wired and wireless 
communications products, he has been involved in various research and development projects.

Mr Kalaivanan graduated from Annamalai University, India with a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) Degree in Electronics
and Instrumentation. He also holds 2 Masters Degrees, one in Master of Engineering (Hons) in Instrument Technology
from Madras Institute of Technology, Anna University, India and another Master of Science in Communications Software
Management, specialised in Data Communication and Networking Software, from the University of Essex, UK.

Dr Lim Wei Ming
Head of Advanced Development

Dr Lim first joined the Group in 2005. From 2007 to 2010 he was with Institute of Information Research (“I2R”) under Agency for 
Science Technology and Research (“A*STAR”), a Singapore government-owned organization to undertake various research 
work. Dr Lim is currently in-charge of the technology development programs and also heading developmental work on
baseband design. With more than 10 years of experience in designing state-of-the-art communications systems, especially
in the area of satellite communications for both fixed and mobile satellite terminals, he is well versed in many aspects of 
embedded systems design, including (FPGA) Field Programmable Gate Array, ASIC (Application Specific Integrated Circuit) 
and digital signal processing. Having been involved in many research and development projects over the years, he is also 
responsible for identifying future technology trends and finding opportunities to leverage on the research and development
expertise of local research institutes and universities. Dr Lim graduated with a PhD in Electronics Engineering and a Bachelor 
Degree (First Class Honours) in Electronics Engineering (Computing), both from the University of Sheffield, UK.
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GROUP OF COMPANIES

Addvaluuueee Technologies Ltd
aries

Addvaluuee Technologies 
whw olly-owned subsidia

Addvalue  
Communications Pte Ltd

Addvalue  
Innovation Pte Ltd Addvalue

Global Limited

Addvalue
Enterprise Limited

100% 
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to ensure that high standards of corporate governance 
and transparency are practiced for the protection of the interests of Shareholders. This statement outlines the Company’s 
corporate governance processes with specific reference to the Code of Corporate Governance 2005. In areas where the 
Company deviates from the Code, the rationale is provided.

BOARD MATTERS

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company

The Board is responsible for protecting and enhancing long-term Shareholders’ value. It provides directions and guidance 
to the overall management of the Group. The Board comprises three Executive Directors and three Independent Directors. 
Newly appointed Directors will be given an orientation program to familiarize themselves with our Group’s operation. The 
experience and competency of each Director contribute to the overall effective management of the Group.

The primary role of the Board includes the following:

results’ announcements

To facilitate effective management, certain roles have been delegated to various Board members by the establishment of 

defined terms of reference which are reviewed on a regular basis. The effectiveness of each Committee is also closely 
monitored. 

The Board meets regularly, formally or otherwise, and as warranted by particular circumstances or as deemed appropriate 

person
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate or financial restructuring

Declaration of dividends and other returns to Shareholders

meetings and discussions carried out via teleconferencing or emails, our Company convened four Board meetings, four 

The Directors’ attendance at the above-mentioned meetings are detailed as follows:

Director Board Audit Nominating Remuneration

Tan Juay Hwa
Tan Khai Pang
Lim Han Boon 3 3 0 0

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BALANCE

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 
objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from management. No individual or 
small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

are Independent and Non-Executive. Key information regarding the Directors and their appointments on the various Board 
Committees is contained herein. 

being non-executive and independent. 

The Board members, collectively, have a diverse spread of expertise covering business and management experience, 

and scope of the Group’s operations. In carrying out their obligations as Directors of our Company, access to independent 
professional advice, where necessary, is also available to all Directors, either individually or as a group, at the expense of 
our Company.

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the Nominating Committee to ensure that the Board has 
the appropriate mix of diversity, expertise and experience, and collectively possess the necessary core competencies for 

Group’s operations.
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Corporate Governance Report

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the 
Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power 
and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

Since the incorporation of the Company, the Company has not adopted a dual leadership structure, whereby there is 

managing the daily operations of the Group and are expected to act in good faith and always in the interests of the Group. 

Directors, including the Chairman, who understand the business of the Company and the Group thoroughly, will provide 

function.

prior to implementation.

the Company is not a member of any Committee.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the 
Board. 

whom, including the chairman, are independent and non-executive:

Lim Han Boon (Chairman/Independent and Non-Executive)

is charged with the responsibility of re-nomination, having regard to the Director’s contribution and performance, including, 
if applicable, as an Independent Director. The Nominating Committee is also charged with determining annually whether 
or not a Director is independent.

multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation”.

The Company has in place policies and procedures for the appointment of new Directors, including the description on the 
search and nomination process.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 
contribution by each Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Nominating Committee had established a formal evaluation process to assess the effectiveness of individual Directors 
and of the Board as a whole.

The overall assessment of individual Directors and of the Board as a whole was good for the financial year ended  

performance. The Board is also satisfied that each Director has allocated sufficient time and resources to the affairs of the 
Group.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle 6: In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

Periodic financial summary reports, budgets, forecasts and other disclosure documents are provided to the Board, where 

executives.

Director and to assist in ensuring that board procedures and applicable rules and regulations are followed.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of 
individual Directors. No director should be involved in decising his own remuneration.

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed 
to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more for this purpose. A proportion of the 
remuneration, especially that of executive directors, should linked to performance.

whom, including the chairman, are independent and non-executive:
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Corporate Governance Report

and attract, retain and motivate employees and Directors.

the effort, time spent and responsibilities of each Non-Executive Director. The fees of the Non-Executive Directors will be 

Executives for the approval by the Board.

Principle 9: Each Company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report.

Details of the remuneration paid or proposed to be paid to the Directors of our Company for the financial year ended  

Remuneration Bands Director Director’s Fees
(%)

Fixed Salary*
(%)

Benefits
(%)

Nil
Below S$250,000 – 96

Tan Khai Pang – 96
Tan Juay Hwa – 95 5
Lim Han Boon – –

– –
– –

* The fixed salary amounts include salary, annual wage supplements and Central Provident Fund contribution.

26

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013



Corporate Governance Report

are set out below:

Remuneration Bands Name of key Executive Designation Fixed Salary*
(%)

Benefits
(%)

Nil
Below $250,000 Financial Controller 99

Head of Hardware 
Engineering

–

Head of Software & 99

Development
99

*The fixed salary amounts include salary, annual wage supplements and Central Provident Fund contribution.

The Addvalue Technologies Employees’ Share Option Scheme

Date of grant Options period

Subscription 
price  

S$

Options 
Outstanding as 

at 1.4.12
Options lapsed/

exercised

Options 
Outstanding as 

at 31.03.13

520,000 (520,000) –

0.035

Options granted to Directors
Director Options Outstanding as 

at 31.03.12 and 21.4.12
Options lapsed/

exercised
Options Outstanding as 

at 31.3.13 and 21.4.13
–

Tan Khai Pang –
Tan Juan Hwa 6,500,000 (6,500,000) –
Lim Han Boon – – –

– – –
– – –
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Options granted to key Executives 

Key Executives Options Outstanding as 
at 31.03.12 and 21.4.12

Options lapsed/
exercised

Options Outstanding as 
at 31.3.13 and 21.4.13

–
K. Kalaivanan 3,000,000 (3,000,000) –

–
Chow Choi Fun – – –

Save as disclosed above, no Directors or employees of the Group who participated in the Scheme have received five 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10: The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is accountable to the 
Board.

The Board is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely information and to ensure full disclosure of material information in 

it is communicated to any other interested person.

Audit Committee

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly 
set out its authority and duties.

including the chairman, are independent and non-executive:

Lim Han Boon (Chairman/Independent and Non-Executive)

effectively.

28

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013



Corporate Governance Report

– the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditors, or, in its absence, the scope 
and the results of the Group’s internal audit functions;

controls arising from the statutory audit;

– the assistance given by the Company’s management to the external auditors;

– the periodic results announcements of the Group prior to their submission to the Board of Directors of the 
Company for approval;

– the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as well as the 
external auditors’ report thereon for each financial year prior to their submission to the Board of Directors of the 
Company for approval; and

Securities Trading Limited).

as the external auditors of the Company and its Singapore subsidiaries.

With Central & Co appointed as the external auditors of the Company’s Hong Kong-incorporated subsidiary, the Board and 

complied with.

services rendered to the Group by the external auditors and was satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will 

that Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP be nominated for the re-appointment as external auditor of the Group’s companies in 

to encourage and provide a channel to employees to report in good faith and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, 

ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.
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Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it 
audits.

nor have a separate internal audit department. 

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss or that the Group will not be adversely 
affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders 
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Board places great emphasis on investor relations with the Company to maintain a high standard of transparency so as 
to promote better investor communications. The Board is mindful of the obligations to provide timely disclosure of material 

to every Shareholder on a timely basis.

of the Company by proxies. The Company ensures separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each distinct 
issue.

The external auditors, the chairpersons of all the Board Committees are present to assist the Directors in addressing any 
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTION

 There were no interested person transactions for the financial year 
3.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a policy prohibiting dealings in the Company’s shares by Directors and employees of the 
Company and its subsidiaries on short-term considerations and for the period of one month prior to the announcement of 

the date of the announcement of the relevant results. The Directors and employees of the Group are expected to observe 
the insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within permitted trading periods.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

any Director or controlling Shareholder.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

principal corporate governance recommendations set out in the Code of Corporate Governance.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Addvalue 
Technologies Ltd (the “Company”) and subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2013 and the 
statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2013.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Dr Chan Kum Lok, Colin
Tan Khai Pang
Tan Juay Hwa
Lim Han Boon
Ang Eng Lim
Michael J Butler

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and debentures

Except as disclosed under “Share options” in this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was 
the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any interest in the shares or debentures of the 
Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Direct interests
At 

1 April 2012
At

31 March 2013
At

21 April 2013
The Company
Ordinary shares

Dr Chan Kum Lok, Colin 33,440,960 42,190,960 42,190,960

Tan Khai Pang 41,925,360 48,675,360 48,675,360

Tan Juay Hwa 4,631,720 11,131,720 11,131,720

Lim Han Boon 19,990,560 19,990,560 19,990,560

Ang Eng Lim 3,100,640 3,100,640 3,100,640

Michael J Butler 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (Continued) 

Direct interests
At 

1 April 2012
At

31 March 2013
At

21 April 2013

Options to subscribe for the Company’s ordinary shares

Dr Chan Kum Lok, Colin 8,750,000 –     –     

Tan Khai Pang 6,750,000 –     –     

Tan Juay Hwa 6,500,000 –     –     

Directors’ contractual benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the 
director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest except as disclosed in the 
financial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/
or executives of those related corporations.

There were no material contracts entered into between the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the 
chief executive officer, each director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year or if 
not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Share options

The Addvalue Technologies Ltd’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) for the employees of the Group was 
approved and adopted by the members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 October 2001. The 
Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee, comprising the following directors:

Ang Eng Lim (Chairman)
Lim Han Boon (Member)
Tan Khai Pang (Member)
Michael J Butler (Member) 

Other statutory information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

(a) The subscription price for each share payable on the exercise of an option shall be the higher of the nominal 
value of the share or the price that represents up to 20% discount to the average of the last dealt prices per 
share for the 3 consecutive market days on which trades were done in the shares immediately preceding the 
date of grant of the option (“Market Price”).

(b) The options shall be accepted by the eligible participant within 30 days after the grant date.
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Share options (Continued)

(c) The options granted vests and expires as follows:

(i)  in relation to an option granted to an employee of the Company and/or its subsidiary companies, a 
period commencing on (and including) the first anniversary or where the subscription price for the 
shares comprised in an option is set at a discount to the Market Price on (and including) the second 
anniversary and expiring on (and including) the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of 
the date of grant or other shorter period as may be determined by the Remuneration Committee; and

(ii)  in relation to an option granted to a non-executive director of the Company and/or its subsidiary 
companies or an employee or director of an associate company, a period commencing on (and 
including) the first anniversary or where the subscription price for the shares comprised in an option 
is set at a discount to the Market Price on (and including) the second anniversary and expiring on (and 
including) the day immediately preceding the fifth anniversary of the date of grant or other shorter 
period as may be determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The directors of the Company who were granted options under the Scheme during the financial year are as follows:

Number of shares under option

Aggregate 
option granted 

in financial year 
ended

31 March 2013

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 
of the Scheme to 

31 March 2013

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 
of the Scheme to 

31 March 2013

Aggregate 
options 

cancelled/ 
transferred since 
commencement 
of the Scheme to 

31 March 2013

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding as 
at 31 March 2013 
and 21 April 2013

Directors of the Company
Dr Chan Kum Lok, Colin –    17,950,000 (16,750,000) (1,200,000) –    
Tan Khai Pang –    18,900,000 (16,750,000) (2,150,000) –    
Tan Juay Hwa –    9,450,000 (8,000,000) (1,450,000) –    
Lim Han Boon –    8,800,000 (8,000,000) (800,000) –    
Ang Eng Lim –    700,000 (500,000) (200,000) –    

Unissued ordinary shares in respect of unexercised options granted under the Scheme as at 31 March 2013 comprise:

For ordinary shares in the Company Exercise price per option Exercise period

9,270,000 S$0.035 22 June 2011 to 21 June 2014
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Share options (Continued)

During the financial year, there were:

(a) no options granted to controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates (as defined in the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Listing Manual);

(b) no participants who had received 5% or more of the total number of the options available under the Scheme 
except as disclosed above; and 

(c) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries which entitle the holders of the option by virtue of such 
holding to any rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

Audit committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are as follows:

Lim Han Boon (Chairman)
Ang Eng Lim (Member)
Tan Khai Pang (Member)
Michael J Butler (Member)

The Audit Committee carried out its functions set out in the Singapore Companies Act, the Listing Manual and Best 
Practices Guide issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. In performing those functions, the Audit 
Committee reviewed the overall scope of the Group’s in-house internal audit functions, external audit functions and the 
assistance given by the Company’s officers to the external auditors.

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors to discuss the results of their audit. The Audit Committee also 
reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2013 as well as the external auditors’ report thereon. Reviews of interested person transactions (as 
defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) were also carried out by 
the Audit Committee at the end of each financial quarter for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. 
It has full authority and discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. 

The Audit Committee convened four meetings during the financial year ended 31 March 2013 with full attendance from 
all members and has also met with the external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least 
once a year. 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the external auditors, Crowe Horwath First Trust 
LLP, be nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee 
has conducted an annual review of non-audit services by the external auditors to satisfy itself that the nature and extent 
of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors before confirming their re-
nomination.

In appointing the external auditors for the Company and its subsidiaries, the Board of Directors has complied with Rules 
712 and 715 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Independent auditors

The independent auditors, Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as 
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

DR CHAN KUM LOK, COLIN TAN KHAI PANG
Director Director

26 June 2013
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Statement by Directors

In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as 
set out on pages 40 to 110 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the Group as at 31 March 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

DR CHAN KUM LOK, COLIN TAN KHAI PANG
Director Director

26 June 2013

Statement by Directors
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Members Of Addvalue Technologies Ltd

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Addvalue Technologies Ltd (the “Company”) and subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 110, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position and the statement 
of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2013, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and that transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and statements of financial 
position and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP (UEN: T08LL1312H) is an accounting limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the Limited Liability 
Partnership Act (Chapter 163A).
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Members Of Addvalue Technologies Ltd

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as 
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2013, and the results, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
26 June 2013
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Note Group Company

2013
US$

2012
US$

2013
US$

2012
US$

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 5 535,883 581,189 –    –    

Subsidiaries 6 –    –    14,345,362 14,345,361

Associates 7 –    –    –    –    

Other equity investments 8 –    –    –    –    

Intangible assets 9 14,189,636 12,581,245 –    –    

Staff loan receivable 10 –    53,703 –    –    

Deferred tax assets 11 2,152,079 2,014,261 –    –    

16,877,598 15,230,398 14,345,362 14,345,361

Current assets

Inventories 12 3,319,601 2,196,272 –    –    

Amount due from customers for contract work 13 94,364 647,355 –    –    

Trade receivables 14 3,979,466 3,334,331 –    –    

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 10 814,204 835,831 5,000 4,119

Available-for-sale financial assets 15 2,135 6,097 2,135 6,097

Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 16 –    –    5,371,442 3,889,570

Fixed deposit 47,578 – – –

Cash and bank balances 197,751 374,240 4,568 7,382

8,455,099 7,394,126 5,383,145 3,907,168

TOTAL ASSETS 25,332,697 22,624,524 19,728,507 18,252,529

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade payables 2,107,899 1,332,930 –    –    

Other payables and accruals 17 1,341,653 1,236,230 404,343 355,163

Provisions 18 329,826 242,172 127,940 128,160

Borrowings 19 2,739,052 162,294 –    –    

Advances received from customers 9,517 56,179 –    –    

Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) 16 –    –    75,319 106,361

6,527,947 3,029,805 607,602 589,684

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

 Note Group Company  

 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$
        

 
 Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 19 19,759 2,201,394 – –    
        

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,547,706 5,231,199 607,602 589,684
       
NET ASSETS 18,784,991 17,393,325 19,120,905 17,662,845
      
 
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to  

equity holders of the Company      
   

Share capital 3 57,614,993 56,064,662 57,614,993 56,064,662
Capital reserve 4 753,510 877,270 6,628 130,388
Fair value adjustment reserve (101,075) (97,113) (101,075) (97,113)
Accumulated losses (39,482,437) (39,451,494) (38,399,641) (38,435,092)
      
TOTAL EQUITY 18,784,991 17,393,325 19,120,905 17,662,845

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Note 2013
US$

2012
US$

Revenue 22 10,170,852 10,590,875

Cost of sales (5,662,542) (5,512,456)

Gross profit 4,508,310 5,078,419

Other operating income 23 262,347 131,461

Selling and distribution expenses (924,545) (821,884)

Administrative expenses (1,467,733) (1,329,748)

Other operating expenses 24 (2,089,994) (1,991,888)

Finance expenses 25 (513,565) (328,805)

(Loss) / Profit before income tax 26 (225,180) 737,555

Income tax credit 27 137,818 70,672

(Loss) / Profit for the year (87,362) 808,227

Other comprehensive (expense) / income

Fair value (loss) / gain on available-for-sale financial assets (3,962) 2,684

Total comprehensive (expense) / income for the year (91,324) 810,911

(Loss) / Earnings per share attributable to equity holders 
 of the Company (cents) 28

Basic (0.01) 0.07

Diluted (0.01) 0.07

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

US$

Capital
reserve

US$

Fair value 
adjustment 

reserve
US$

Currency 
translation 

reserve
US$

Accumulated 
losses

US$
Total equity

US$

Balance as at 1.4.2011 40,487,921 99,311 (90,346) 1,462,876 (28,544,724) 13,415,038
Effect of change in functional 
currency 12,405,259 11,099 (9,451) (1,462,876) (10,944,031) –     

52,893,180 110,410 (99,797) –     (39,488,755) 13,415,038

Profit for the year –     –     –     –     808,227 808,227
Other comprehensive income,  

net of tax –     –     2,684 –     –     2,684

Total comprehensive income  
for the year –     –     2,684 –     808,227 810,911

Issuance of new shares 3,930,388 –     –     –     –     3,930,388
Share issue expenses (12,024) –     –     –     –     (12,024)
Redemption of redeemable 

preference shares
– redemption at a premium (746,882) –     –     –     (24,084) (770,966)
– transfer within equity for 

redemption out of profits –     746,882 –     –     (746,882) –     
Share options expenses –     19,978 –     –     –     19,978

Total transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners, 
being contribution by wners 3,171,482 766,860 –     –     (770,966) 3,167,376

Balance as at 31.3.2012 56,064,662 877,270 (97,113) –     (39,451,494) 17,393,325

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

US$

Capital
reserve

US$

Fair value 
adjustment 

reserve
US$

Currency 
translation 

reserve
US$

Accumulated 
losses

US$
Total
US$

Balance as at 1.4.2012 56,064,662 877,270 (97,113) –     (39,451,494) 17,393,325

Loss for the year –     –     –     –     (87,362) (87,362)
Other comprehensive expenses,  

net of tax –     –     (3,962) –     –     (3,962)

Total comprehensive loss for  
the year –     –     (3,962) –     (87,362) (91,324)

Issuance of new shares 1,550,926 (67,341)     –     –     –     1,483,585
Share issue expenses (595) –     –     –     –     (595)
Lapse of share options – (56,419) – – 56,419 –

Total transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners, 
being contribution by owners 1,550,331 (123,760)     –     –     56,419     1,482,990

Balance as at 31.3.2013 57,614,993 753,510 (101,075) –     (39,482,437) 18,784,991

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Note 2013
US$

2012
US$

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss) / Profit before income tax (225,180) 737,555
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 1,108,629 1,022,210
Depreciation of plant and equipment 5 245,826 334,091
Interest expense 25 513,565 328,805
Fair value of share options recognised as expenses –     19,978
Provisions 18 661,472 979,589

Operating profit before working capital changes 2,304,312 3,422,228
Inventories (1,123,329) (569,081)
Amount due from customers for contract work 552,991 20,589
Trade and other receivables (569,805) (10,891)
Development expenditure 9 (2,644,766) (2,980,279)
Advances received from customers (46,662) 20,059
Trade and other payables 306,574 (1,203,284)

Net cash used in operating activities (1,220,685) (1,300,659)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment A (167,589) (207,587)
Purchase of computer software 9 (72,254) (92,963)
Repayment from staff 10 –     12,842

Net cash used in investing activities (239,843) (287,708)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of shares (net of share issue expenses) 1,482,990 3,918,364
Redemption of redeemable preference shares by subsidiary –     (770,966)
Proceeds from borrowings 601,500 –
Repayment of borrowings (457,095) (1,464,722)
Placement of pledged deposit (47,578) –
Interest paid 25 (295,778) (328,805)

Net cash from financing activities 1,284,039 1,353,871

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent (176,489) (234,496)

Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of year 374,240 608,736

Cash and cash equivalent at end of year B 197,751 374,240

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

Note A

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group’s additions to plant and equipment during the year 
comprised of:

2013
US$

2012
US$

Plant and equipment purchased during the year (Note 5) 200,520 234,101
Less: Financed by finance lease obligations, net (32,931) (26,514)

Cash payment to acquire plant and equipment 167,589 207,587

Note B

2013
US$

2012
US$

Cash and bank balances (1) 197,751 374,240
Fixed deposit (2) 47,578 –

245,329 374,240
Less: Pledged fixed deposit (47,578) –

Cash and cash equivalent for the purpose of presenting  consolidated  
   statement of cash flows 197,751 374,240
    
(1) Included in the cash and bank balances is amount of US$8,372 deposited into an escrow account which is maintained in accordance with the loan 

agreement with the funding institution in relation to a loan granted to a subsidiary (Note 20). The escrow account can be used for payment for cost 
of goods sold according to the estimated budget and repayment made to the funding institution. 

(2) Fixed deposit is pledged for the purpose of performance bond which serve as a security deposit for the due and faithful performance of the 
subsidiary’s obligations given to an external customer.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

 Addvalue Technologies Ltd (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in 
Singapore and listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The address of 
the Company’s registered office and principal place of business is 28 Tai Seng Street, #06-02, Singapore 534106.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these 
activities during the financial year.

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors on 26 June 2013.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in 
the accounting policies below and are drawn up in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”).  The financial statements are presented in United States dollar (“US$”).

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
results may ultimately differ from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that 
are significant to the financial statements and areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, are 
disclosed in this Note.

 Adoption of new and revised standards

 On 1 April 2012, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that 
are mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS. The adoption of 
these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies 
and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Standards issued but not yet effective

 The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet 
effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on  

or after

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012
Revised FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2013
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013
Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities 1 January 2013

Improvements to FRSs 2012
– Amendment to FRS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2013
Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2014
Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2014
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2014
FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2014
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014
Amendments to FRS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

 Except for Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 112, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards and 
interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. 
The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 112 is 
described below.

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

 The Amendments to FRS 1 changes the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified to 
profit or loss at a future point in time would be presented separately from items which will never be reclassified.  
As the Amendments only affect the presentations of items that are already recognised in OCI, the Group does 
not expect any impact on its financial position or performance upon adoption of this standard in financial year 
2014.



49

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

49

         AADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Standards issued but not yet effective (Continued) 

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 FRS 112 is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles.  
FRS 112 requires an entity to disclose information that helps users of its financial statements to evaluate the 
nature and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial 
statements.  The Company is currently determining the impact of the disclosure requirements.  As this is a 
disclosure standard, it will have no impact to the financial position and financial performance of the Company 
when implemented in financial year 2015.

 Group accounting

(i)  Subsidiaries

(a) Basis of consolidation

  From 1 April 2010

  Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanied by 
a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the 
date on which control ceases.

  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated but are considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

  Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of 
a subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the 
equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial 
position. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based 
on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Group accounting (Continued)

(i)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

  Prior to 1 April 2010

  Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The 
following differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous 
basis of consolidation:

– Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the 
balance was reduced to nil. Any further losses were attributed to the Group, unless the 
non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these.  Losses prior to 1 April 
2010 were not reallocated between non-controlling interest and the equity holders of 
the Company.

(b) Acquisition of businesses

  From 1 April 2010

  The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by 
the Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the 
fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued 
by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs, other than those associated with 
the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. 

  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. 

  Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance 
with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.  If the 
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured until it is finally 
settled within equity.

  In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the 
acquiree are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Group accounting (Continued)

(i)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (Continued) 

  For non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders 
to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, the Group 
elects on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis whether to recognise them either at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable 
assets, at the date of acquisition. 

  The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree, and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 
If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary 
acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. 

  Prior to 1 April 2010

  In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:
 

 – Transactions costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition 
costs.  The non-controlling interests were measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

– Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps.  
Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a 
revaluation and recognised in equity. Any additional acquired share of interest did not 
affect previously recognised goodwill.

– Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present 
obligation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate 
was determinable.  Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were 
recognised as part of goodwill.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Group accounting (Continued)

(i)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

c)  Disposals of subsidiaries or businesses

  From 1 April 2010

  The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are derecognised when a change in the 
Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the subsidiary. 
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a 
specific Standard. 

  Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the retained investment at the date when control is lost and its fair 
value is recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently, the retained interest is accounted for 
as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on 
the level of influence retained.

  Prior to 1 April 2010

  In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:
 

– Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its 
proportionate share of net asset value at the date control was lost.  The carrying value 
of such investments as at 1 April 2010 have not been restated.

(ii) Associates

  Associates are entities over which the Group exercises significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policy decision, generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting 
rights of 20% and above but not exceeding 50%. Investments in associates are accounted for in the 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if 
any.

  Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost.  The cost of an acquisition is measured 
at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on associates 
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the associate over the Group’s share of the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets of the associate and is included in the carrying amount of the 
investments. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Group accounting (Continued)

(ii) Associates (Continued)

  In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses are recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive 
income is recognised in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition movements and 
distributions received from the associates are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associates equals or exceeds its interest in the associates, 
including any other unsecured non-current receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associates. 

  Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting policies of associates 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by 
the Group.

  Investments in associates are derecognised when the Group loses significant influence. Any retained 
interest in the entity is remeasured at its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of 
the retained investment at the date when significant influence is lost and its fair value is recognised 
in profit or loss.

  Gains and losses arising from partial disposals or dilutions in investments in associates in which 
significant influence are retained are recognised in profit or loss.  

Subsidiaries, associates and other equity investments

 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and other equity investments are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses in the Company’s statement of financial position. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and other equity investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts 
of the investments are recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

  The individual financial statements of each entity are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are 
presented in United States dollar (“US$”), which is the functional currency of the Company and of 
each of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Currency translation (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances

  Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are measured 
in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on 
initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the 
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the end of each reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at the end of reporting date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences 
arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which 
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency 
translation reserve in equity in the consolidated financial statements. The foreign currency translation 
reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

 Plant and equipment

 All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of plant and equipment 
initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
The cost of an item of plant and equipment including subsequent expenditure is recognised as an asset if, and 
only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced in 
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific lives and depreciation, respectively.  
Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance expenses 
are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

 After initial recognition, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment loss.

 All plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method to write-off the cost of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Useful lives  
(Years)

Laboratory equipment 5
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10
Computers and software 5
Toolings 3
Renovations 4
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Plant and equipment (Continued)

 The estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting 
date to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from items of plant and equipment. Fully depreciated assets are retained in the consolidated 
financial statements until they are no longer in use.

 An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal.  The gain or loss on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between 
any sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss within “Other 
operating income (expenses)”. 

 Intangible assets

(i)  Research costs and development expenditure

  Research costs are expensed as incurred. Deferred development costs arising from development 
expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset 
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete and the ability to 
measure reliably the expenditures during the development. 

  Following initial recognition of the deferred development costs as an intangible asset, it is carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 
calculated on a product-by-product basis over the estimated useful life begins from the time when 
the development is complete and the design or technology is available for use. The carrying amount 
of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use or more 
frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting period. Upon completion, 
the development costs is amortised as aforesaid and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The estimated useful lives have been taken as 
follows. 

Useful lives
(Years)

Satellite related products 10

 
(ii) Patents

  Patents are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss. Amortisation is 
charged to the profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 7 years.

(iii) Computer software

  Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss. Amortisation 
is charged to the profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely dependent on those from other assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset or 
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to 
sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 
prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

 The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These 
budgets and forecasts calculations are generally covering a period of three to five years. For longer periods, a 
long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the third or fifth years.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset. 

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates 
the assets or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. This increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profit and 
loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

 Financial assets

(i)  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are initially recognised 
at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets classified as held-to-maturity, directly attributable 
transaction costs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

  The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature of the assets and the purpose for which 
the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition and for held-to-maturity investments, re-evaluates this designation at every balance 
sheet date. As at the balance sheet date, the Group has no financial assets in the categories of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and held-to-maturity investments.

(ii) Subsequent measurement

  The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the classification, as follows:

(a) Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, 
except for those expected to be realised later than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables comprise cash 
and bank balances, trade and other receivables, including amounts due from subsidiardies 
and staff loans.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through 
the amortisation process.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments 
classified as available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading 
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are 
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be 
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions. 
Assets in this category are presented as non-current assets unless the investment matures 
or management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.



58

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

58

         AADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

  After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at 
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses. The cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity 
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 

  Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated 
at cost less impairment loss.

(iii) Derecognition

  Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

  All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade 
date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of the assets within the period 
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.

(i)  Financial assets carried at amortised cost

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively 
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or 
not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.



59

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

59

         AADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

  An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is 
the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.

  When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 

 
  To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has 

been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

  If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets

  Considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment securities classified 
as available-for-sale financial assets are impaired include (i) a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the investment below its costs, (ii) significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, 
and (iii) information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the 
technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates 
that the cost of the investment in equity instrument may not be recovered. ‘Significant’ is to be 
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the 
fair value has been below its original cost.

  When the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the cumulative loss is the difference 
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair 
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the profit or loss, is transferred from other 
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of 
equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increases in their fair value after impairment 
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

  For debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same 
criteria as the financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment 
is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss. Future 
interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is 
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income.  If, in a subsequent 
year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss, the impairment loss is 
reversed in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets carried at cost

  If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an 
impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Raw materials comprise purchase costs 
accounted for on a first-in first-out basis.  Work-in-progress and finished goods comprise cost of direct materials, 
direct labour and an attributable proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. 
These costs are assigned on a first-in first-out basis.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to be incurred for selling and distribution.

 When necessary, allowance is provided for damage, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Construction contracts work-in-progress

 When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 
associated with the construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference 
to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date (the percentage of completion 
method).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Construction contracts work-in-progress

 The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) total contract revenue can be 
measured reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the 
entity; (iii) the costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the 
contract costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract 
costs incurred can be compared with prior estimates.

 When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably (principally during early stages of a contract), 
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is probable to be recoverable 
and contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. An expected loss 
on the construction contract should be recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

 The aggregate of costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on each contract is compared against the 
progress billings up to the end of each reporting period. Where costs incurred and recognised profit (less 
recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is shown as amount due from customers for contract 
work. Where progress billings exceeds costs incurred and recognised profit (less recognised losses), the excess 
is shown as amount due to customers for contract work.

 Financial liabilities
 
(i)  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. As at the financial year end, the Group did not have any financial liabilities in the 
category of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent measurement

  Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortisation process.

(iii) Derecognition

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit or loss.



62

ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

62

         AADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD            ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Leases

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified 
in an arrangement. For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2006, the date of inception is deemed to 
be 1 January 2006 in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.

 As lessee

 Finance leases, which transfers to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount 
capitalised.  Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged 
directly to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred. Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or 
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term.

 Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased 
item are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is 
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

 Provisions

 General

 A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at 
the end of the reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  If it is no longer probable that 
an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

 Warranty provision

 Provisions for warranty related costs are recognised when the product is sold or services provided.  Initial 
recognition is based on historical experience.  The initial estimate of warranty related costs is revised annually.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial guarantees

 The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks and financial institutions for borrowings of its 
subsidiaries. These guarantees are financial guarantee contracts as they require the Company to reimburse the 
banks if the subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of 
their borrowings.

 Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised as a liability at their fair values, adjusted for transaction 
costs directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantees. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial 
guarantee contracts are recognised as income in profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable 
that the liabilities will be higher than the amount initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded 
at the higher amount with the difference charged to profit or loss. 

 Borrowings

 Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the financial year end, in which case they are presented as non-current liabilities.

 Borrowings

 Borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs and subsequently carried at amortised 
costs using the effective interest method.   Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method.  Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the financial year end are included 
in current borrowings in the statement of financial position even though the original term was for a period 
longer than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is 
completed after the reporting date and before the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing 
costs are incurred.  Borrowing cost are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended 
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur.  Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

 Share capital

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are classified as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Share capital (Continued)

 Redeemable preference shares are classified as equity in accordance to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered and allocated to the conversion option (equity component), which is presented in 
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs.

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duty. 
The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has 
concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangement. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a) Sale of goods

  Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, and effective control of the goods have been passed to the customer, recovery of the 
consideration is probable, and the amount of revenue and costs can be measured reliably. Revenue 
is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

(b) Design services

  Revenue from design services is recognised using the percentage of completion method when the 
outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably. The percentage of completion for each contract 
is determined by the proportion that costs incurred for work performed to date relative to estimated 
total contract costs. Losses, if any, are recognised immediately when their existence is foreseen. 
Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent 
of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

 Employees’ benefits

(i)  Retirement benefits

  The Singapore companies in the Group makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund (CPF) 
Scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service 
is performed.

(ii) Employee leave entitlement

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to end of each 
reporting period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Employees’ benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share-based compensation

  The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense 
with a corresponding increase in the capital reserve over the vesting period.  The total amount to be 
recognised over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, 
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions, on the date of grant.  Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in the estimation of the number of options under options that are expected 
to become exercisable on vesting date.  At the end of each reporting date, the Group revises its 
estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on the 
vesting date. It recognises the impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, in the profit or 
loss, and a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting period.

  No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting 
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of 
whether or not the market condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  In the case where the option does not vest 
as a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of the Group or 
the employee, it is accounted for as a cancellation. In such case, the amount of the compensation 
cost that otherwise would be recognised over the remainder of the vesting period is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss upon cancellation. The capital reserve is transferred to retained earnings 
upon expiry of the share options.

  When the options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs) and the related balances previously recognised in the capital reserve are credited to the share 
capital account, when new ordinary shares are issued.

 Income tax

 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered 
from the tax authorities, using tax rates and tax laws that have been substantively enacted at the end of each 
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. Current income taxes 
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside profit or loss,  
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Income tax (Continued)

 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow deferred tax assets to 
be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset realised, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of each reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Jobs credit scheme

 Cash grants received from the government in relation to the Jobs Credit Scheme are recognised as an offset 
against staff costs.

 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all terms and conditions relating to the grants have been complied with.  When the grant relates 
to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is 
amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Government grants (Continued)

 Where the grant relates to income, the government grant shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are 
intended to compensate.  Grants related to income may be presented as a credit in profit or loss, either separately 
or under a general heading such as “Other operating income”.  Alternatively, they are deducted in reporting the 
related expenses.

 Related parties

 A related party is defined as follows:

(a)  A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and the Company if that 
person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Company;
(ii) Has significant influence over the Company; or
(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Company or of a parent 

of the Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

Company or an entity related to the Company.
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, deposits with financial institutions, and short term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subjected to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Segment reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(i)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

  The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of development expenditure

  The Group determines whether development expenditure is impaired at least on an 
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the probable future economic benefits that 
are expected to be generated by the commercial exploitation of products, applications and 
processes that are developed by the Group. The discounted cash flows are derived from 
the budget for the next five financial years and do not include restructuring activities that 
the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the 
asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The recoverable amount is 
most sensitive to sales quantities forecasted for the existing and new products in 2014 and 
the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. Further details of the key assumptions 
applied in the impairment assessment of development expenditure are disclosed below. 
The carrying value of the Group’s development expenditure as at 31 March 2013 is 
US$13,880,127 (2012: US$12,314,621).

  Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:
    Group
   2013  2012
    
  Growth rates applied for the next 5 years 5% to 120% 9% to 100%
  Discount rate 10% 10%
    
  The Group expects certain products to be competitive and if sales achieved in 2014 

are 35% and 40% of the Group’s forecasted quantities with other assumptions remain 
constant, the related carrying amount of the development expenditure of US$2.2 million 
and US$3.2 million as at 31 March 2013 will show an impairment loss of approximately 
US$621,000 and US$26,000 respectively.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(a) Impairment of development expenditure (Continued)

  The key assumptions used to determining the value in use also include competitive but 
stable market conditions and continued acceptability of products sold. Management 
determined estimated growth rate based on past performance and its expectations of the 
market development. The discount rates used were pre-tax and reflected specific risks 
relating to the relevant industry.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

  Management reviews its trade receivables for objective evidence of impairment at least 
annually. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are considered objective 
evidence that a receivable is impaired. In determining this, management makes judgement 
as to whether there is observable data indicating that there has been a significant change 
in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant changes with 
adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the 
debtor operates in. 

  Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as 
to whether an impairment loss should be recorded as an expense. In determining this, 
management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the 
amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences 
between the estimated loss and actual loss experience. The carrying amount of the Group’s 
trade receivables as at 31 March 2013 is US$3,979,466 (2012: US$3,334,331).

(c) Recoverability of deferred tax assets
 

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(c) Recoverability of deferred tax assets (Continued)

  The Group has carried forward tax losses amounting to approximately US$25,469,000 
(2012: US$23,335,000) for which deferred tax assets has been recognised. These losses 
relate to the companies that have a history of losses, do not expire and may not be used 
to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. The Company has neither temporary 
taxable differences nor any tax planning opportunities available that could support the 
recognition of any of these losses as deferred tax assets. The recognition of the deferred 
tax assets is supported by the probable future taxable profits generated by securing higher 
sales of existing products and expanding new products, as disclosed in part (a) above. 

  If the discounted cash flows of the subsidiaries reduce by 15% from the management’s 
forecast, the Group’s deferred tax assets would reduced by approximately  
US$112,000 (2012: Nil).

  On the other hand, no deferred tax assets has been recognised on the unutilised tax 
losses of the Company, amounting to approximately US$931,000 (2012: US$868,000) due 
to uncertainty of recovery.  If the Group was able to recognise all unrecognised deferred 
tax assets, profit would increase by approximately US$158,000 (2012: US$148,000). 

(d) Useful lives of development expenditure

  The cost of development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
respective estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives to be 10 years. 
Changes in the expected useful lives or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
Therefore, future amortisation changes could be revised. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s development expenditure included as intangible assets as at 31 March 2013 is 
US$13,880,127 (2012: US$12,314,621).

(e) Depreciation of plant and equipment

  Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and equipment to be within 
3 to 10 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in 
the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic 
useful lives of these assets. Therefore, future depreciation charges could be revised. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment as at 31 March 2013 is US$535,883 
(2012: US$581,189). 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(ii) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

  The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

  Capitalisation of development expenditure
 
  The Group follows the guidance of FRS 38 – Intangible Assets in determining the amount and nature 

of development expenditure to be capitalised as development costs. This determination requires 
significant judgement. The Group assess, among other factors, if the product or process is technically 
feasible and if the Group has sufficient technical, financial and other resources to use or market the 
product or process. In addition, the Group also applies its judgement to assess the probability of 
expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the use of this capitalised development 
expenditure that will flow to the Group.



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 March 2013
(Amounts in United States dollar)

3. SHARE CAPITAL
 Group Company 
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$
Amount
(a) Ordinary shares
Issued and fully paid:
As at beginning of year 
Ordinary shares  56,064,662 39,741,039 56,064,662 39,741,039
Effect of change in functional currency –  12,405,259 –   12,405,259

   56,064,662 52,146,298 56,064,662 52,146,298
Issued during the year:
– exercise of share options 1,550,926 1,140,203 1,550,926 1,140,203
– placement –   2,790,185 –  2,790,185
Share issue expenses (595) (12,024) (595) (12,024)

As at end of year 57,614,993 56,064,662 57,614,993 56,064,662
       
(b) Redeemable preference shares issued by a subsidiary
As at beginning of year
Preference shares –   746,882 –   –    

Redemption during the year:
Preference shares –  (746,882) –  – 

As at end of year
Preference shares –    –    –    – 

Total share capital 57,614,993 56,064,662 57,614,993 56,064,662
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3. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 
 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012
Number of shares       
(a) Ordinary shares
Issued and fully paid:
As at beginning of year  1,124,915,813 997,905,813 1,124,915,813 997,905,813
Issued during the year:
– exercise of share options 53,170,000 41,010,000 53,170,000 41,010,000
– placement –  86,000,000 –   86,000,000

As at end of year 1,178,085,813 1,124,915,813 1,178,085,813 1,124,915,813

(b) Redeemable preference shares issued by a subsidiary
As at beginning of year –  1,000,000 –  –     
Redemption during the year: –  (1,000,000) –       –     

As at end of year –   –     –       –     

Total share capital 1,178,085,813 1,124,915,813 1,178,085,813 1,124,915,813
       
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and where declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 
carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

The holders of the redeemable preference shares issued by a subsidiary have no voting rights and not entitled to any 
dividends. The preference shares are redeemable at a premium of 3% at any time at the options of the issuer. The 
preference shares were fully redeemed in prior year and the premium paid amounting to US$24,084 was recognised 
directly in accumulated losses.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2013, the Company issued the following shares:

No. of shares US$ Description of shares Purpose of issue
53,170,000 1,483,585 Ordinary shares at exercise price of 

S$0.035 each for cash
Issued pursuant to exercise of 

shares options under the employees 
shares option scheme.

The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares.
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3. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share Option Scheme

The Addvalue Technologies Ltd’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved and adopted by its 
members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 October 2001.  The Scheme is administered by the Remuneration 
Committee.

Other statutory information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

(a) The subscription price for each share payable on the exercise of an option shall be the higher of the nominal 
value of the share or the price that represents up to 20% discount to the average of the last dealt prices per 
share for the 3 consecutive market days on which trades were done in the shares immediately preceding the 
date of grant of the option (“Market Price”).

(b) The options shall be accepted by the eligible participant within 30 days after the grant date.

(c) The options granted vests and expires as follows:

(i) in relation to an option granted to an employee of the Company and/or its subsidiary companies, a 
period commencing on (and including) the first anniversary or where the subscription price for the 
shares comprised in an option is set at a discount to the Market Price on (and including) the second 
anniversary and expiring on (and including) the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of 
the date of grant or other shorter period as maybe determined by the Remuneration Committee; and

(ii) in relation to an option granted to a non-executive director of the Company and/or its subsidiary 
companies or an employee or director of an associate company, a period commencing on (and 
including) the first anniversary or where the subscription price for the shares comprised in an option 
is set at a discount to the Market Price on (and including) the second anniversary and expiring on (and 
including) the day immediately preceding the fifth anniversary of the date of grant or other shorter 
period as maybe determined by the Remuneration Committee.

On 22 June 2010, options to subscribe for 110,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise price of $0.035 per 
ordinary share were granted pursuant to the Scheme (“2010 Option”). The 2010 Option is exercisable on 22 June 2011 and 
expires on 21 June 2014. There were no options granted during the year.
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3. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The details of the share options outstanding during the financial year are as follows:

  Group and Company
 2013  2012  
Options outstanding Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average 
 share options exercise price share options exercise price
  S$  S$
As at beginning of year 62,960,000 0.043 120,870,000 0.043
Lapsed during the year (520,000) 0.120 (7,100,000) 0.120
Lapsed during the year –     – (3,900,000) 0.123
Exercised during the year (53,170,000) 0.035 (41,010,000) 0.035
Cancelled during the year –    – (5,900,000) 0.035

As at end of year 9,270,000 0.035 62,960,000 0.036

Exercisable at the end of year 9,270,000  62,960,000  

        

The weighted average share price at the time of exercise range from S$0.067 to S$0.114 (2012: S$0.05 to S$0.114) per 
share. The related transaction costs amounting to US$595 (2012: US$147) were deducted against the proceeds received.

  Number of options
Terms of the share options outstanding as at end of year:   2013 2012

Expiry date  Exercise price
31 July 2012* S$0.120  –  520,000 
21 June 2014 S$0.035  9,270,000 62,440,000

     9,270,000 62,960,000

* Granted before 22 November 2002 and not accounted for under FRS 102. 
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3. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of options granted on 22 June 2010, determined using the Black-Scholes Pricing Model, was S$0.001. The 
significant inputs into the model were as follows:

Weighted average share price S$0.035

Weighted average option price S$0.035
Expected volatility 1.3%
Expected life 3 years
Risk free rate 0.59%
Expected dividend yield 0%

     
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous  
2 years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the management’s best estimate, for the effect 
of non transferability, exercise restriction and behavioural considerations.

4. CAPITAL RESERVE

    Group  
   2013  2012
   US$  US$
    
As the beginning of year   877,270 99,311
Effect of change in functional currency   –      11,099

As restated   877,270 110,410
Recognition of share-based payment   –      19,978
Redemption of preference shares out of profits of a subsidiary   –      746,882
Less: exercise of share options   (67,341) –     
Less: lapse of share options   (56,419) –     

As at end of year   753,510 877,270

Representing non-distributable reserve (Group):    
– Share based payment reserve   6,628 130,388
– Redemption of preference shares out of profits of  a subsidiary  746,882 746,882

     753,510 877,270
Representing non-distributable reserve (Company):    
– Share based payment reserve   6,628 130,388
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5. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group  Furniture,
  fittings and Computers 
 Laboratory office and
 equipment equipment software Toolings Renovations Total
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Cost
As at 1.4.2011 298,185 192,418 441,592 560,837 186,723 1,679,755
Additions 121,638 9,884 84,192 12,638 5,749 234,101

As at 31.3.2012 419,823 202,302 525,784 573,475 192,472 1,913,856

As at 1.4.2012 419,823 202,302 525,784 573,475 192,472 1,913,856
Additions 66,797 –    32,173 101,550 –  200,520

As at 31.3.2013 486,620 202,302 557,957 675,025 192,472 2,114,376

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1.4.2011 222,102 117,313 228,138 366,508 64,515 998,576
Depreciation charge for the year 45,061 12,185 77,766 151,680 47,399 334,091

As at 31.3.2012 267,163 129,498 305,904 518,188 111,914 1,332,667

As at 1.4.2012 267,163 129,498 305,904 518,188 111,914 1,332,667
Depreciation charge for the year 52,162 10,808 73,381 61,357 48,118 245,826

As at 31.3.2013 319,325 140,306 379,285 579,545 160,032 1,578,493

Net carrying value
As at 31.3.2013 167,295 61,996 178,672 95,480 32,440 535,883

As at 31.3.2012 152,660 72,804 219,880 55,287 80,558 581,189

Assets held under finance leases

During the financial year, the Group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of US$32,931 (2012: US$33,759) 
by means of finance leases. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment held under finance leases as at 31 March 2013 were US$103,150 (2012: 
US$92,043).

Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 21).
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6. SUBSIDIARIES

    Company  
   2013  2012
   US$  US$
Unquoted equity shares at cost
As at beginning of year   40,944,641 37,074,208
Addition of investment in a subsidiary   1 3,870,433

     40,944,642 40,944,641
Impairment losses   (26,599,280) (26,599,280)

As at end of year   14,345,362 14,345,361

Analysis of impairment losses:
As at beginning of year   26,599,280 28,999,280
Reversal during the year   –     (2,400,000)

As at end of year   26,599,280 26,599,280

For the purpose of impairment testing at the balance sheet date, the recoverable amount of cost of investments in 
subsidiaries were determined based on a value-in-use calculation and was determined by discounting future cash flows to 
be generated from the continuing use of the cash-generating unit. Cash flow projections used in these calculations were 
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a three-year period. The key assumption of the calculation 
is as disclosed in Note 2.
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6. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of 
subsidiaries Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business

Percentage of equity 
interest held by the 

Group
Cost of investment

to the Company

2013
%

2012
%

2013
US$

2012
US$

Addvalue 
Communications  
Pte Ltd (1)   
(“AVC”)

Design, development 
and distribution 
of tele-
communications 
equipment and 
related products

Singapore 100 100 34,027,803 34,027,803

Addvalue Innovation  
Pte Ltd (1)

Design, development 
and distribution 
of tele-
communications 
equipment and 
related products

Singapore 100 100 6,916,838 6,916,838

Addvalue Global 
Limited(2)

Business 
development, sale 
and marketing 
of satellite 
communications 
equipment

Hong Kong 100 100 –^   –^   

Addvalue Enterprise 
Limited(3)

Business 
development, sale 
and marketing 
of satellite 
communications 
equipment

British Virgin 
Island (“BVI”)

100 –  1 –    

40,944,642 40,944,641

^ denotes amount less than US$1.00.

(1) Audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, Singapore.

(2) Incorporated on 26 August 2010 and is audited by Central & Co, Hong Kong.

(3) A BVI business company incorporated on 1 March 2013 and is not required to be audited by law in the country of incorporation. It is 
reviewed by Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP for consolidation purposes. 
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7. ASSOCIATES

    Group and Company
   2013  2012
   US$  US$

Equity shares at cost   137 137
Impairment losses   (137) (137)

     –    –   

    
Details of the associates are as follows:

Name of associates
Principal 
activities

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business

Percentage of equity 
interest held by the 

Group
Cost of investment

to the Company

2013 
%

2012 
%

2013 
US$

2012 
US$

Addvalue Communications Inc 
(“AVCI”) (1)

Ceased 
operations

United States 
of America

23 23 137 137

(1) Not required to be audited by law in the country of incorporation.

The associate, AVCI has ceased its operation since 2009. As a result, there are no financial statements available to the 
Group.

8. OTHER EQUITY INVESTMENTS

 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 1,713,763 1,713,763 1,485,956  1,485,956
Impairment losses (1,713,763) (1,713,763) (1,485,956) (1,485,956)

Net carrying value – –  – –
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Development   Computer
 expenditure Patents software Total
 US$ US$ US$ US$
Cost
As at 1.4.2011 12,396,138 44,126 567,358 13,007,622
Additions 2,980,279 –  92,963 3,073,242

As at 31.3.2012 15,376,417 44,126 660,321 16,080,864

As at 1.4.2012 15,376,417 44,126 660,321 16,080,864
Additions 2,644,766 –  72,254 2,717,020

As at 31.3.2013 18,021,183 44,126 732,575 18,797,884

Accumulated amortisation
As at 1.4.2011 2,125,760 44,126 307,523 2,477,409
Amortisation charge for the year 936,036 – 86,174 1,022,210

As at 31.3.2012 3,061,796 44,126 393,697 3,499,619

As at 1.4.2012 3,061,796 44,126 393,697 3,499,619
Amortisation charge for the year 1,079,260 –  29,369 1,108,629

As at 31.3.2013 4,141,056 44,126 423,066 4,608,248

Net carrying value
As at 31.3.2013 13,880,127 –  309,509 14,189,636

As at 31.3.2012 12,314,621 – 266,624 12,581,245

The Group invests in development activities to build its base of proprietary products, applications and processes. The net 
carrying value of development expenditure amounting to US$13,880,127 (2012: US$12,314,621) represents development 
costs incurred in the development of customised Application Specific Integrated Circuit (ASIC) chipsets for satellite 
communication applications, tracking and telemetry solutions. The carrying value of development expenditure is expected 
to be recovered from probable future economic benefits that are expected to be generated by the commercial exploitation 
of products, applications and processes that are developed by the Group, including the commercial sales of the Group’s 
various products such as SabreTM 1, SabreTM 1 Remote, SabreTM Ranger, FB250, FB150 and Seagull 5000. The amortisation 
of development expenditure amounting to US$1,079,260 (2012: US$936,036) was charged to other operating expenses in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Included in the development expenditure and computer software are the capitalisation of the employees benefit expenses 
of US$2,345,131 for the current financial year (2012: US$2,467,732) (Note 30).
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10. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Deposits and prepayments 163,955 218,007 5,000 4,119
Other receivables 3,547 49,327 –    –
Deposits and advances paid to suppliers 618,478 553,053 – –
Staff loans and advances 28,224 69,147 –  –

 814,204 889,534 5,000 4,119
Less: Non-current staff loans –  (53,703) –    – 

Current portion 814,204 835,831 5,000 4,119

11. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

  Group
   2013 2012
   US$ US$

As at beginning of year 2,014,261 1,943,589
Recognised in the profit or loss
– Relates to origination and reversal of temporary differences 10,425 70,672
– Under-provision of prior year 127,393 – 

As at end of year 2,152,079 2,014,261
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11. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

 Deferred tax 
 liabilities Deferred tax assets
   Allowance
  Provision for for doubtful Unutilised
 Development unconsumed trade capital Unutilised
 expenditure leave receivables allowance tax loss Total
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
2013           
As at beginning of year (2,086,409) 31,454 2,031 100,156 3,967,029 2,014,261
Recognised in the profit or loss
– Relates to origination  

and reversal of  
temporary differences (273,211) 1,554 1,314 33,610 247,158 10,425

– Under-provision of  
prior year – – – 4,899 122,494 127,393

As at end of year (2,359,620) 33,008 3,345 138,665 4,336,681 2,152,079

2012
As at beginning of year –  –   –  –   1,943,589 1,943,589
Recognised in the profit or loss (2,086,409) 31,454 2,031 100,156 2,023,440 70,672

As at end of year (2,086,409) 31,454 2,031 100,156 3,967,029 2,014,261

The Group has deductible unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses of approximately US$816,000 (2012: 
US$589,000) and US$26,400,000 (2012: US$24,176,000) respectively which can be carried forward and used to offset 
against future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements, out of which approximately US$931,000 
(2012: US$841,000) of unutilised tax losses was not recognised as deferred tax assets due to uncertainty of its recoverability.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for the unutilised capital allowances and tax losses amounting to approximately 
US$816,000 (2012: US$589,000) and US$25,469,000 (2012: US$23,335,000) respectively, relating to subsidiaries which 
incurred marginal losses during the year are expected to be recovered from the probable future economic benefits expected 
to be generated by the commercial exploitation of products, applications and processes that are developed by the Group.  
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12. INVENTORIES

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Finished goods 2,516,212 993,055
Raw materials 433,647 533,901
Semi-finished goods 309,707 669,316
Goods-in-transit 60,035 –

 3,319,601 2,196,272

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to US$4,493,453 (2012: US$4,411,903).

Inventories with a carrying amount of US$3,319,601 (2012: US$2,196,272) have been pledged as security for a loan from a 
funding institution to a subsidiary (Note 20).

13. AMOUNT DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profit to date 182,947 1,479,255
Less: Progress billings (88,583) (831,900)

 94,364 647,355

Presented as:
Gross amount due from customers for contract work 94,364 647,355

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Trade receivables 3,999,145 3,346,278
Less : Allowance for doubtful trade receivables (Note 33(iii)) (19,679) (11,947)

 3,979,466 3,334,331
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

 Group and Company
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Equity instrument (quoted), at fair value
As at beginning of year   6,097 3,413
Fair value adjustment for the year   (3,962) 2,684

As at end of year   2,135 6,097

16. DUE FROM / TO SUBSIDIARIES (NON-TRADE)

These non-trade balances including amount due from / to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

17. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Accrued operating expenses:
– Employee benefits 491,590 458,696 –   –    
– Directors’ fees(1) 228,050 120,856 228,050 120,856
– Others  144,860 146,957 55,573 70,537
Due to directors(1) 37,462 22,392 –    –    
Other payables 439,691 487,329 120,720 163,770
 
  1,341,653 1,236,230 404,343 355,163

(1)  These amounts represents unpaid directors’ fees and salaries which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

18. PROVISIONS

 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Directors’ fees 127,940 128,160 127,940 128,160
Royalties  124,984 47,943 – –    
Warranty  76,902 66,069 –   – 

  329,826 242,172 127,940 128,160
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18. PROVISIONS (Continued)

The provision for directors’ fee represents the amounts proposed for the current financial year and is subject to the 
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Provision for royalties relates to royalties payable for sales of certain types of finished goods in accordance with the 
relevant licencing agreements, and is estimated based on the actual number of units sold for the financial year. 

The Company and each of its subsidiaries provide a two-year warranty on most products under which faulty products are 
repaired or replaced. The amount of the provision is based on the sales volume and experience with the level or repairs 
and returns. 

Group Directors’ fees Royalties Warranty Total
 US$ US$ US$ US$

2013
As at beginning of year 128,160 47,943 66,069 242,172
Provision for the year 127,940 442,724 90,808 661,472
Utilisation during the year (128,160) (365,683) (79,975) (573,818)

As at end of year  127,940 124,984 76,902 329,826

2012
As at beginning of year 107,053 106,282 – 213,335
Provision for the year 128,160 785,360 66,069 979,589
Utilisation during the year (107,053) (843,699) –     (950,752)

As at end of year  128,160 47,943 66,069 242,172

Company

2013
As at beginning of year 128,160 –     –     128,160
Provision for the year 127,940 –   –     127,940
Utilisation during the year (128,160) –     –    (128,160)

As at end of year  127,940 – – 127,940

2012
As at beginning of year 107,053 –   –   107,053
Provision for the year 128,160 – – 128,160
Utilisation during the year (107,053) – –  (107,053)

As at end of year  128,160 – –  128,160
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19. BORROWINGS
 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$
Due within one year
Loans (Note 20) 2,688,000 126,070
Lease obligations (Note 21) 51,052 36,224

 2,739,052 162,294

Due after one year or more
Loans (Note 20) – 2,171,930
Lease obligations (Note 21) 19,759 29,464

 19,759 2,201,394

Total borrowings
Loans (Note 20) 2,688,000 2,298,000
Lease obligations (Note 21) 70,811 65,688

 2,758,811 2,363,688

20. LOANS
 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Loan 1 (secured) 2,688,000 2,171,930
Loan 2 (unsecured) – 126,070

 2,688,000 2,298,000
    

Loan 1 (secured)

Loan 1 obtained by a subsidiary from a funding institution sponsored by International Enterprise Singapore, denominated in 
Singapore dollar, bears interest rate at 10% per annum (2012: 10%) and is secured by a floating charge on the inventories 
(Note 12) and escrow accounts with a bank of a subsidiary of the Company and a corporate guarantee by the Company. The 
loan amount of S$3,333,333 (2012: S$3,000,000) is repayable on 6 October 2013. 

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group has fully repaid the S$333,333 loan in April 2013 and the Group has 
obtained the approval of the funding institution to extend the repayment date of the S$3,000,000 loan to 6 December 2014.
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20. LOANS (Continued)

Loan 2 (unsecured)

Loan 2 drawn from a bank and denominated in Singapore dollar, bears interest rate at 6.5% per annum and is repayable in 
24 monthly installments. This loan was fully repaid during current financial year.

21. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Group Minimum lease  Present value of  
 payments Interest payments
 US$ US$ US$
2013
Within one year 53,360 (2,308) 51,052
More than one year but not later than five years 20,615 (856) 19,759

 73,975 (3,164) 70,811

Group Minimum lease  Present value of  
 payments Interest payments
 US$ US$ US$
2012
Within one year 39,650 (3,426) 36,224
More than one year but not later than five years 30,455 (991) 29,464

 70,105 (4,417) 65,688

Interest is payable at effective interest rate of 6.6% (2012: 6.6%) per annum and guaranteed by the Company.

22. REVENUE

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Sale of finished products and components 9,748,800 9,652,630
Rendering of design services 422,052 938,245

 10,170,852 10,590,875
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23. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Amount due to third parties written off 51,613 72,630
Reversal of allowance of doubtful trade receivables –  3,082
Government grants received 39,695 19,146
Others 171,039 36,603

 262,347 131,461

Government grants relates to income received from Innovation Voucher Scheme for the EMA Funding project and SME 
grant from IRAS. There is no unfulfilled condition or contingencies attached to these grants.

24. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$
  
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 1,108,629 1,022,210
Bank charges 10,747 14,800
Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 5) 245,826 334,091
Foreign exchange loss, net 132,129 68,595
Inventory written off 29,255 –    
Labour cost 29,046 29,089
Laboratory usage 97,497 56,876
Repairs and maintenance 266,612 219,171
Trade receivables impairment (Note 33 (iii)) 7,732 –    
Telecommunications 63,794 48,862
Transportation 6,626 12,848
Travelling 35,261 94,462
Utilities 47,970 46,830
Others 8,870 44,054

 2,089,994 1,991,888
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25. FINANCE EXPENSES

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Interest on bank overdrafts 10 31
Interest on loans  287,749 317,412
Interest on late payment  4,149 8,772
Interest on lease obligations 3,870 2,590
Fair value adjustment on borrowings  217,787 – 

 513,565 328,805

26. (LOSS) / PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

This is determined after charging / (crediting) the following:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 1,108,629 1,022,210
Remuneration paid to auditors of the Company 
– Audit fees 56,386 55,243
– Non-audit fees –   2,434
Allowance / (Reversal) for doubtful trade receivables (Note 33 (iii)) 7,732 (3,082)
Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 5) 245,826 334,091
Directors’ remuneration (Note 29)
– directors of the Company 508,112 523,730
Directors’ fees (Note 29) 127,940 128,160
Bad debts written off –  1,500
Employee benefits expense (Note 30)* 1,597,970 1,494,602
Foreign exchange loss, net (Note 24) 132,129 68,595
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales (Note 12) 4,493,453 4,411,903
Operating lease expenses 211,059 178,356
    

* This includes the amount shown as directors’ remuneration.
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27. INCOME TAX CREDIT

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Current tax –   –  

Deferred tax:
– Current year 10,425 70,672
– Under provision in prior years 127,393 –

Income tax credit 137,818 70,672

The reconciliation of the tax credit and the product of accounting profit / (loss) multiplied by the applicable rate is as 
follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

(Loss) / Profit before income tax (225,180) 737,555

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 17% (2012: 17%) (38,281) 125,384
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 16,028 64,329
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets –  (241,040)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  –  (19,345)
Under provision of deferred tax assets in prior years (127,393) –    
Deferred tax assets not recognized 11,828 –  

Income tax credit (137,818) (70,672)

28. (LOSS) / EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of (loss) / earnings per share are based on the (loss)/ profit and numbers of shares shown below.

  Basic   Diluted
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$

(Loss) / Profit attributable to shareholders (87,362) 808,227 (87,362) 808,227
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28. (LOSS) / EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 

Weighted average number of shares

 Number of shares
 2013 2012

For basic earnings per share 1,165,571,799 1,089,973,217
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
– Share options pursuant to the Scheme 12,695,536 34,289,520

For diluted earnings per share 1,178,267,335 1,124,262,737

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. The Company’s dilutive potential ordinary shares represent 2010 share options (Note 3).

For the number of 2010 share options, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the 
monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above 
is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options. The 
differences are added to the denominator as an issuance of ordinary shares for no consideration. No adjustment is made 
to earnings (numerator).

Share options granted before 2010 with exercise prices ranging from S$0.120 to S$0.123 each have not been included in 
the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for current and previous financial years. There 
is no dilutive effect arising from share options as the exercise prices of the share options was higher than the Company’s 
average share price during the financial year ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.
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29. RELATED PARTY

Details of compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Salaries, bonus and others 877,022 846,472
Contributions to defined contribution plans 49,138 42,656
Share-based payment – 10,391

 926,160 899,519
Directors’ fees 127,940 128,160

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 1,054,100 1,027,679

Comprise amount due to:
Directors of the Company
– Fees  127,940 128,160
– Remuneration and contribution to defined contribution plans 508,112 523,730

 636,052 651,890
Other key management personnel 418,048 375,789

 1,054,100 1,027,679
   
The remuneration of directors and key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard 
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Outstanding balances as at 31 March 2013 owing to the director of the Company are disclosed in Note 17.

There has been no other related party transaction entered into during the financial year. 
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Employee benefits expense (including directors):   
– Salaries, bonuses and others 3,483,349 3,492,901
– Contribution to defined contribution plans 334,534 321,385
– Share based payment –     19,978
– Job credit scheme (2,722)    (90)

 3,815,161 3,834,174
Directors’ fees 127,940 128,160

 3,943,101 3,962,334

Charged to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 1,597,970 1,494,602
Capitalised in development expenditure (Note 9) 2,345,131 2,467,732

 3,943,101 3,962,334

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

(i) Corporate Guarantee

 As at 31 March 2013, unsecured corporate guarantees given to financial institutions, in connection 
with the facilities granted to subsidiaries amounted to approximately US$2.8 million (2012: US$2.4 
million). The facilities are for working capital purposes. As at 31 March 2013, the Company does 
not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantee and 
therefore the fair value of the corporate guarantees are immaterial. 

(ii) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has various non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements for equipment, offices and other facilities. The leases have varying items, escalation 
clauses and renewable rights. The lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities 
concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. 
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments (Continued) 

 The future aggregate minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for 
at the financial year end date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

 Future minimum lease payments    
– Within one year 151,955 117,899
– Later than one year but not later than five years 8,165 11,636

  160,120 129,535

32. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group organised their reportable segment based on their geographical areas which 
represents their strategic business units because the geographical segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return are 
affected predominantly by geographical areas. 

The Group is engaged in a single business of sales of telecommunication equipment and related products and components 
and provision of related design services. During the reporting years, the Group has three reportable segments, as described 
below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. For each of the strategic business units, the directors review internal 
management reports on a regular basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable 
segments:

– Segment 1: Europe reflects sales made to customers based in Spain, Germany, United Kingdom, Norway and 
Netherlands;

– Segment 2: North America reflects sales made to customers based in United States of America and Canada;
– Segment 3: Asia reflects sales made to customers based in Singapore, Japan, China, Taiwan, Philippines, 

Middle East and Australia.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss 
which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the 
consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group 
basis and are not allocated to operating segments. There is no transfer pricing between operating segments as there is no 
inter-segment transaction.

Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in 
evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

As at 31 March 2013 Europe North America Asia Consolidated
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Revenue
Total revenue from external customers 1,309,228 5,254,406 3,607,218 10,170,852

Segment result 345,371 1,097,324 282,595 1,725,290

Unallocated expenses*    (1,699,252)
Other income    262,347
Finance expenses    (513,565)

Loss before income tax    (225,180)

Segment assets
By location of customers
– Segment assets 905,835 2,625,506 19,649,277 23,180,618
– Deferred tax assets    2,152,079

Total assets    25,332,697

By location of assets
– Segment assets 905,835 2,632,501 19,642,282 23,180,618
– Unallocated assets    2,152,079

Total assets    25,332,697

Segment liabilities  415,218 433,350 5,679,379 6,527,947

Other Information
Capital expenditure
– Plant and equipment – – 200,521 200,521
– Intangible assets – – 2,717,019 2,717,019
Depreciation and amortisation 156,616 499,971 697,867 1,354,454
    
* Unallocated expenses mainly represent administrative expenses not directly attributable to revenue generated from customers.  
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

As at 31 March 2012 Europe North America Asia Consolidated
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Revenue
Total revenue from external customers 1,555,613 5,565,732 3,469,530 10,590,875

Segment result 397,242 2,065,015 (65,802) 2,396,455

Unallocated expenses    (1,461,556)
Other income    131,461
Finance expenses    (328,805)

Profit before income tax    737,555

Segment assets
By location of customers
– Segment assets 1,228,952 427,393 18,953,918 20,610,263
– Deferred tax assets    2,014,261

Total assets    22,624,524

By location of assets
– Segment assets 692,416 230,442 19,687,405 20,610,263
– Unallocated assets    2,014,261

Total assets    22,624,524

Segment liabilities  318,406 41,801 4,870,992 5,231,199

Other Information
Capital expenditure
– Plant and equipment –     –   234,101 234,101
– Intangible assets –     –     3,073,242 3,073,242
Depreciation and amortisation 129,317 533,702 693,282 1,356,301
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

All non-current assets of the Group are located in Singapore. Revenue from external customers are mainly derived from 
sales of land and maritime communication products. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Land communication products 1,566,930 4,501,973
Maritime communication products 7,232,117 4,696,442
Design services 422,052 938,245
Components and other sales 949,753 454,215

 10,170,852 10,590,875

   

The countries from which the Group derives revenue are mainly as follows:

 Revenue
 2013 2012
 US$ US$
Country of domicile
– Singapore 692,080 891,234
Foreign countries
– Canada  1,317,084 2,640,075
– United States 3,935,038 2,840,096
– Spain  200,241 1,173,491
– China  312,589 779,421
– Phillippines 915,000 –     
– Others * 2,798,820 2,266,558

  10,170,852 10,590,875
  
* Others comprise of Australia, United Kingdom, UAE, Japan, Netherlands and Indonesia.

Revenue amounting to approximately US$3,070,000 (2012: US$2,638,000) and US$1,309,000 (2012: US$2,193,000) were 
attributed to major customers located in North America (2012: North America).
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out the Group’s overall business strategies 
and its risk management philosophy. The Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects of financial performance of the Group. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures 
for the management of these risks. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk 
management process. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivative contracts.

The Group sells its products / services in several countries and for some of such overseas sales, it transacts in Euro. 
Borrowings by the subsidiary are denominated in Singapore dollar (“S$”). As a result, movements in S$ and Euro exchange 
rates are the main foreign exchange risk which the Group is exposed to. Transaction risk is calculated in each foreign 
currency and includes foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and existing and firm purchases and sales 
commitments. The Group has not entered into any derivative instruments for hedging or trading purposes.

(i) Market risk

(a) Foreign exchange risk

 Group United States Singapore Euro
 As at 31 March 2013 dollar dollar dollar Others* Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

 Financial assets
Amount due from customers  

for contract work 94,364 –  –  –  94,364
Trade receivables 3,611,237 111,813 128,504 127,912 3,979,466
Other receivables and  

deposits 520,000 87,775 –  –  607,775
Available-for-sale financial  

assets 2,135 – –  –  2,135
Fixed Deposit –  47,578 – –  47,578
Cash and bank balances 108,750 60,797 –   28,204 197,751
Intragroup receivables 1,070,094   4,298,742 –  –    5,368,836

  5,406,580 4,606,705 128,504 156,116 10,297,905

 Financial liabilities
Trade payables 1,480,709 72,573 550,846 3,771 2,107,899
Other payables and  

accruals 117,310 1,216,051 –     8,292 1,341,653
Borrowings –     2,758,811 –     –    2,758,811
Intragroup payables 1,070,094     4,298,742 –    –    5,368,836

  2,668,113 8,346,177 550,846 12,063 11,577,199

Net financial assets /  
(liabilities)  2,738,467 (3,739,472) (422,342) 144,053 (1,279,294)

Less: Net financial assets  
denominated in the  
respective entities’  
functional currencies (2,738,467) –     –     –    (2,738,467)

 Foreign currency exposure –     (3,739,472) (422,342) 144,053 (4,017,761)

 * Others comprise of Chinese Renminbi, British Pound Sterling, Hong Kong dollar and Malaysia Ringgit.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

 Group United States Singapore Euro
 As at 31 March 2012 dollar dollar dollar Others Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Financial assets
Staff loan receivable –     53,703 –     –  53,703
Amount due from customers  

for contract work 647,355 –     –     –     647,355
Trade receivables 3,139,688 –     194,643 –   3,334,331
Other receivables and  

deposits 520,000 119,833 –     –     639,833
Available-for-sale financial  

assets 6,097 –     –     –     6,097
Cash and bank balances 353,057 21,183 –     –     374,240
Intragroup receivables 134,356     3,721,564 –  –     3,855,920

  4,800,553 3,916,283 194,643 –     8,911,479

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 1,050,470 110,173 167,870 4,417 1,332,930
Other payables and  

accruals 244,062 992,168 –     –     1,236,230
Borrowings –     2,363,688 –     –     2,363,688
Intragroup payables 134,356   3,721,564 –     –     3,855,920

  1,428,888 7,187,593 167,870 4,417 8,788,768

Net financial assets /  
(liabilities) 3,371,665 (3,271,310) 26,773 (4,417) 122,711

Less: Net financial assets  
denominated in the  
respective entities’  
functional currencies (3,371,665) –     –    –     (3,371,665)

Foreign currency exposure  –     (3,271,310) 26,773 (4,417) (3,248,954)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Company United States Singapore
As at 31 March 2013 dollar dollar Total
  US$ US$ US$

Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,135 –  2,135
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 1,692,280 3,679,162 5,371,442
Cash and bank balances –   4,568 4,568

  1,694,415 3,683,730 5,378,145

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals –   404,343 404,343
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) –   75,319 75,319

  – 479,662 479,662

Net financial assets 1,694,415 3,204,068 4,898,483

Less: Net financial assets denominated  
in the Company’s functional currency (1,694,415) –   (1,694,415)

Foreign currency exposure –   3,204,068 3,204,068
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Company United States Singapore
As at 31 March 2012 dollar dollar Total
  US$ US$ US$

Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 6,097 – 6,097
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 122,786 3,766,784 3,889,570
Cash and bank balances –   7,382 7,382

  128,883 3,774,166 3,903,049

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals –  355,163 355,163
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) –  106,361 106,361

  –  461,524 461,524

Net financial assets 128,883 3,312,642 3,441,525

Less: Net financial assets denominated  
in the Company’s functional currency (128,883) –  (128,883)

Foreign currency exposure – 3,312,642 3,312,642
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

 Foreign exchange risk sensitivity

 The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the 
United States dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate 
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign 
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign 
operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than 
the currency of the lender or the borrower.

 If the United States dollar strengthens by 10% (2012: 10%) against the relevant foreign 
currency, with all other variables held constant, loss for the year and other equity will 
increase (decrease) by:

As at 31 March 2013 Singapore  Euro
  dollar dollar Others Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$
Group
Loss for the year (310,376) (35,054) 11,956 (333,474)

Company
Loss for the year 265,938 – –   265,938

As at 31 March 2012 Singapore  Euro
  dollar dollar Others Total
  US$ US$ US$ US$
Group
Profit for the year 271,519 (2,222) 367 269,664

Company
Profit for the year (274,949) –  –  (274,949)

 A weakening of the USD against the above currencies at 31 March would have had the 
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amount shown above, on the 
basis that all other variables remain constant.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(b) Interest rate risk

 The Group obtains additional financing through borrowings from financial institutions. The 
Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing 
its foreign currency exposure. The Group constantly monitors its interest rate risk and does 
not utilise forward contracts or other arrangements for trading or speculative purposes. As 
at 31 March 2013, there were no such arrangements, interest rate swap contracts or other 
derivative instruments outstanding.

 The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial 
instruments, that are exposed to interest rate risk:

   Group  
  2013 2012
  US$ US$

Within 1 year – fixed rates
Loans 
– Loan 1 2,688,000 –    
– Loan 2 –  126,070
Lease obligations 51,052 36,224

More than 1 year – fixed rates
Loans 
– Loan 1 –  2,171,930
Lease obligations 19,759 29,464

 Interests on financial instruments at fixed rates are fixed until the maturity of the 
instruments. The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in the 
above table are not subject to interest rate risks.

 Interest risk sensitivity

 The Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income and equity are not affected 
by changes in interest rates as the interest-bearing financial instruments carry fixed 
interest until maturity. Hence, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk

 The Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of funding through committed credit 
facilities from a bank and financial institutions. In addition, the Group has also sought for investment 
funds via issuing of shares and convertible loan to finance its cash flow and operations.

 The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 to 90 days terms 
while other payables have an average term of 30 days. The following table details the remaining 
contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on 
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and the earliest date on which the Group and the 
Company can be required to pay.  

Group  On demand or More than 
 within 1 year 1 year

  US$ US$
As at 31 March 2013
Trade payables 2,107,899 –     
Other payables and accruals 1,341,653 –     
Borrowings 3,010,159 20,615

  6,459,711 20,615
As at 31 March 2012
Trade payables 1,332,930 –
Other payables and accruals 1,236,230 – 
Borrowings 404,400 2,542,143

  2,973,560 2,542,143

Company   On demand or 
   within 1 year
   US$
As at 31 March 2013
Other payables and accruals  404,343
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade)  75,319

   479,662
As at 31 March 2012 
Other payables and accruals  355,163
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade)  106,361

   461,524
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk

 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations, resulting 
in financial loss to the Group. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only 
with customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to 
mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with high 
credit quality counterparties. In addition, receivables are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

 Included in the Group’s trade receivables are the following major customers:

 2013 2012
 Number of % Number of %
 customers  customers

Europe – – 2 18
North America 2 43 – – 
Asia 2 12 4 56

 As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk 
for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments 
presented on the statement of financial position, except as follows: 

Company
2013 2012
US$ US$

Corporate guarantees provided to banks on subsidiary’s loans 2,758,811 2,363,688

 The Group’s trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally ranging from 30 to 90 days 
(2012: 30 to 90 days) term. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent 
their fair values on initial recognition.

 The Group’s and the Company’s major classes of financial assets are cash and bank balances and 
trade receivables. The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to key 
management is as follows:

  Group
   2013 2012
   US$ US$

By geographical areas
– Europe    377,489 692,416
– North America   2,609,258 224,345
– Asia    992,719 2,417,570

    3,979,466 3,334,331
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

By type of revenue
– Sales of finished products and components 3,884,553 2,955,605
– Design services 94,913 378,726

  3,979,466 3,334,331

 The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, represent the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.  No other financial assets carry a 
significant exposure to credit risk.

 Cash and bank balances are placed with reputable local financial institutions. Therefore, credit risk 
arises mainly from the inability of its customers to make payments when due. The amounts presented 
in the statement of financial position are net of allowances for impairment of receivables, estimated 
by management based on prior experience and the current economic environment.

 The age analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 US$ US$

Not past due and not impaired 3,043,477 2,147,341

Past due but not impaired
– Past due 0 to 3 months 563,760 330,819
– Past due 3 to 6 months 111,320 176,350
– Past due over 6 months 260,909 679,821

  935,989 1,186,990

  3,979,466 3,334,331
Impaired trade receivables 19,679 11,947
Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables (19,679) (11,947)

  3,979,466 3,334,331
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

 The movement in allowance for doubtful trade receivables is as follows:

  Group
   2013 2012
   US$ US$

    
As at beginning of the year   11,947 32,405
Allowance made during the year   7,732 –    
Write off against allowance   – (17,376)
Bad debts recovered   – (3,082)

As at end of the year   19,679 11,947

 Included in the Group’s trade receivables are an aggregate amount of US$935,989 (2012: 
US$1,186,990) that are past due but not impaired. These relates to a number of independent 
customers of a subsidiary that have a good track record. Based on past experience, the management 
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not 
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The 
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 
 Other receivables include US$500,000 deposits paid to a major subcontractor as advances which are 

fully refundable upon termination of contract.

(iv) Financial instruments by category

 The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments as follows:

 Group Company
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Financial assets:
– Loans and receivables 4,926,934 5,049,462 5,376,010 3,896,952
– Available-for-sale 2,135 6,097 2,135 6,097

  4,929,069 5,055,559 5,378,145 3,903,049

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6,208,363 4,932,848 479,662 461,524
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

A. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are carried at fair value 

 Fair value hierarchy

 The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), 
and

(unobservable inputs).

 The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair 
value hierarchy:

 Group and Company
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 US$ US$ US$ US$

As at 31 March 2013    
Financial assets    
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,135 –      –      2,135
    
As at 31 March 2012    
Financial assets    
Available-for-sale financial assets 6,097 –      –      6,097
    
Determination of fair value

 Fair value of Available-for-sale financial assets is determined directly by reference to their published 
market bid price at the financial year end date.

B. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

 Cash and bank balances, current trade and other receivables, borrowings (current) and payables, due 
from / (to) subsidiaries

 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair 
values due to their short-term nature or that they are market interest rate instruments on or near the 
financial year end date.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

C. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

 The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classed that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value is as follows:

 Group
 2013 2012
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
 amount value amount value
 US$ US$ US$ US$

Financial liabilities
Borrowings (non-current)    
– Loans  – – 2,171,930 2,206,586
– Lease obligations 19,759 12,306 29,464 30,756

 Determination of fair value

 Borrowings (non-current)

 The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows 
at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowings or leasing arrangements 
at the financial year end date.

 Capital risk management policies and objectives

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance.

 The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital and 
reserves.

 The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the 
Board of Directors considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. 
Based on recommendations of the Board of Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital 
structure, where feasible, through the payment of dividends and new share as well as the issue of 
new debt.

 The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012.
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Distribution of shareholdings as at 25 June 2013     
Number & Class of shares : 1,178,685,813
Voting rights – On a show of hands : One vote per member
 – On a poll : One vote per share

Distribution of shareholdings as at 25 June 2013

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1 – 999 38 0.84% 15,784 0.00%
1,000 – 10,000 1,916 42.53% 10,235,180 0.87%
10,001 – 1,000,000 2,446 54.30% 240,715,580 20.42%
1,000,001 and above 105 2.33% 927,719,269 78.71%
Total 4,505 100.00% 1,178,685,813 100%

As at 25 June 2013, the percentage of shareholdings held in the hands of the public was 80% and Rule 723 of the Listing 
Manual is complied with.

20 largest registered shareholders as at 25 June 2013 as shown in the Registers of Members

No. Name No. of Shares  %
1 CREST CAPITAL ASIA PTE LTD     101,000,000 8.57%
2 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMS PTE LTD  89,456,000 7.59%
3 ORIENTAL MAYA (S’PORE) PTE LTD       54,000,000 4.58%
4 CHAN KUM LOK COLIN             42,190,960 3.58%
5 TAN KHAI PANG *                38,875,360 3.30%
6 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD    37,083,840 3.15%
7 CHAN KUM ONN ROGER             31,356,240 2.66%
8 WONG KOON CHUE @ WONG KOON     24,573,000 2.08%
9 HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PL 23,600,000 2.00%
10 LIM HAN BOON                   19,990,560 1.70%
11 CITIBANK NOMS S’PORE PTE LTD   19,148,006 1.62%
12 LEE JAN GWAN                   19,050,000 1.62%
13 NG SER MIANG                   18,053,000 1.53%
14 GOH POH HENG                   16,500,000 1.40%
15 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES  16,286,000 1.38%
16 THE ENTERPRISE FUND II LTD     16,000,000 1.36%
17 DBS VICKERS SECS (S) PTE LTD   15,222,833 1.29%
18 LEE SIN CHONG                  15,000,000 1.27%
19 CHIA MIA NGUANG                14,500,000 1.23%
20 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD     13,889,760 1.18%
  
  625,775,559 53.09%

* Mr Tan Khai Pang is also the beneficial owner of 9,800,000 shares held by Hong Leong Finance Nominees PL. 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Name   No of shares  %
Merida Resources Incorporated  60,097,000  5.1
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Seventeenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 28 Tai Seng 
Street #06-02, Singapore 534106, on Friday, 26 July 2013, at 10.00 a.m., to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2013 together with 
the reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Mr. Lim Han Boon, a Director retiring under Article 104 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company. (Resolution 2)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$160,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: 
S$160,000). (Resolution 3)

 
4. To re-appoint Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix 

their remuneration. (Resolution 4)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions (with or without amendments):-

5. Authority to allot and issue shares

(a) That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, and the listing rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company 
at any time to such persons and upon such terms and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit, to:

(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise;

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require shares to be 
issued or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase shares (collectively, 
“Instruments”) including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures 
or other instruments convertible into shares;

(iii) issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of Instruments 
previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues; and

(b) notwithstanding the authority conferred by the shareholders may have ceased to be in force, issue 
shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the authority was in 
force,

 provided always that
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(i) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares 
to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) 
does not exceed 50% of the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury 
shares, of which the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in 
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) to be issued other 
than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 20% of the total 
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, and for the purpose 
of this resolution, the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares shall be 
the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the time this 
resolution is passed, after adjusting for;

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, or

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards 
outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed provided the options or 
awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares, 
and

(ii) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by 
which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 
whichever is the earlier.” (Resolution 5)

 (See Explanatory Note 1)

6. Proposed renewal of share buy-back mandate

“that:

(a)  for the purposes of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the 
“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to exercise all the powers of 
the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire the issued ordinary shares fully paid in the capital of 
the Company (the “Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defined) 
during the Relevant Period, at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company 
from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i)  on-market purchase(s) (“Market Purchase”), transacted on SGX-ST through Quest-ST, 
the new trading system of the SGX-ST which replaces the Central Limit Order Book (CLOB) 
trading system as of 7 July 2008 or, as the case may be, any other stock exchange on 
which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted, through one or more duly 
licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or

(ii)  off-market purchase(s) (“Off-Market Purchase”) effected pursuant to an equal access 
scheme(s) as defined in Section 76C of the Companies Act;
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(b)  unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors 
of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any 
time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this Resolution and 
expiring on the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) or the date by 
which such AGM is required by law to be held;

(ii)  the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the 
Share Buyback Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or 

(iii)  the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or 
revoked by ordinary resolution of the Company in general meeting;

(c)  in this Resolution:

 “Prescribed Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10% of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has 
effected a reduction of its share capital in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, at any time during the Relevant Period or within any one financial year of the Company, whichever 
is the earlier, in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company shall be taken to be the 
amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered;

 “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the AGM is held and 
expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, 
after the date of this Resolution; and

 “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, 
stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:-

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase : 105% of the Average Closing Price;

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase : 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price, where:

 “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last 
five market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market 
Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant 5-day 
period;

 “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the 
market day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making 
of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; and

 “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention 
to make an offer for the purchase of Shares from shareholders of the Company stating the purchase 
price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each 
Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and
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(d)  the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and 
things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or 
necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.” (Resolution 6)

 (See Explanatory Note 2)
ANY OTHER BUSINESS

7. To transact any other business that may normally be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

 By Order of the Board

 Foo Soon Soo
 Company Secretary

 Singapore, 11 July 2013

Notes:

1. A Depositor’s name must appear on the Depository Register not less than 48 hours before the time of the Meeting.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead and 
any such proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be lodged at the registered office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for the Meeting.

Explanatory Note on Special Business to be transacted:

1. The Ordinary Resolution No. 5 in item 5 is to authorise the Directors of the Company from the date of the 
above Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in 
the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50% of the total number of issued share excluding 
treasury shares of the Company of which the total number of shares and convertible securities issued other than 
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares excluding 
treasury shares of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, for such purposes as they consider would 
be in the interests of the Company. The total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company 
for this purpose shall be the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution 
is passed (after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities or share options 
on issue at the time this resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s 
shares).  This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

2. The Ordinary Resolution No. 6 in item 6 relates to the renewal of mandate approved by shareholders on  
27 July 2011 authorizing the Company to purchase its own shares subject to and in accordance with the rules of 
the SGX-ST. The details are set out in the circular to shareholders dated 11 July 2013 on the Proposed Renewal 
of the Share Buyback Mandate.
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PROXY FORM

SEVENTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Addvalue Technologies Ltd
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Registration No. 199603037H

IMPORTANT:

1. This Annual Report is also forwarded to investors 
who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in 
the Company at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees, and is sent solely for their information 
only.

2. The Proxy Form is, therefore, not valid for use by 
CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents 
and purposes if used or purported to be used by 
them.

I/We ____________________________________________________________________________________  (Name)
of _____________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)
being a member/members of ADDVALUE TECHNOLOGIES LTD hereby appoint:

Name Address
NRIC/Passport

Number
Proportion of

Shareholdings (%)

and/or [delete as appropriate]

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meet-
ing of the Company to be held at 28 Tai Seng Street #06-02, Singapore 534106 on Friday, 26 July 2013 on 
10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the 
resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.  If no specific direction as to voting is 
given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other 
matter arising at the Meeting.

No. Ordinary Resolutions
To be used on a 
show of hands

To be used in the 
event of a poll

For* Against* For** Against**

1.
To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013 together with 
the reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2.
To re-elect Mr Lim Han Boon, a Director retiring under 
Article 104 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

3.
To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of  
S$160,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

4
To re-appoint Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP as Auditors 
and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Special Business

5.
To authorise Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 
161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

6. To approve the renewal of Share Buyback Mandate

Name Address
NRIC/Passport

Number
Proportion of

Shareholdings (%)

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a “ ” within the box provided.
** If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick ( ) within the box provided.  Alternatively, please indicate the 

number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this______________ day of ____________ 2013. Total number of Shares in Number of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

                                                        
Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal
IMPORTANT:  PLEASE READ NOTES FOR PROXY FORM



Notes

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you.  If you have shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should 
insert that number of shares.  If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 
should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of 
shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register 
of Members.  If the number of shares is not inserted, this proxy form will be deemed to relate to the entire 
number of ordinary shares in the Company registered in your name(s).

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies 
to attend and vote on his behalf.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding or the 
number of shares to be represented by each proxy.  If no such proportion or number is specified, the first-
named proxy may be treated as representing 100% of the shareholding and any second-named proxy as 
alternate to the first-named.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy, together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or 
a notarially certified or office copy thereof, shall be deposited at the Registered Office at 28 Tai Seng Street 
#06-02, Singapore 534106, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing; or if such appointor is a corporation under its common seal, if any, and, if none, then 
under the hand of some officer duly authorised in that behalf.  An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at 
a meeting shall be deemed to include the power to demand or concur in demanding a poll on behalf of the 
appointor.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such 
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the 
Companies Act, Cap. 50.

7. Please indicate with a “ ” in the appropriate space how you wish your proxy to vote.  If this proxy form is 
returned without any indication as to how your proxy shall vote, he will vote or abstain from voting as he 
thinks fit.

General

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed or illegible or when the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of 
the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of shares entered 
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 
as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central 
Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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